Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: October 29, 2020 REVISED: December 14, 2020 ACCEPTED: January 8, 2021 PUBLISHED: February 22, 2021

Scalar leptoquarks in leptonic processes

Andreas Crivellin, a,b,c Christoph Greub, Dario Müller^{b,c} and Francesco Saturnino^d

^dAlbert Einstein Center for Fundamental Physics, Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Bern,

CH-3012~Bern,~Switzerland

E-mail: andreas.crivellin@cern.ch, greub@itp.unibe.ch, dario.mueller@psi.ch, saturnino@itp.unibe.ch

ABSTRACT: Leptoquarks are hypothetical new particles, which couple quarks directly to leptons. They experienced a renaissance in recent years as they are prime candidates to explain the so-called *flavor anomalies*, i.e. the deviations between the Standard Model predictions and measurements in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ and $b \to c\tau\nu$ processes and in the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon. At the one-loop level these particles unavoidably generate effects in the purely leptonic processes like $Z \to \ell^+\ell^-$, $Z \to \nu\bar{\nu}$, $W \to \ell\nu$ and $h \to \ell^+\ell^$ and can even generate non-zero rates for lepton flavor violating processes such as $\ell \to \ell'\gamma$, $Z \to \ell^+\ell'^-$, $h \to \ell^+\ell'^-$ and $\ell \to 3\ell'$. In this article we calculate these processes for all five representations of scalar Leptoquarks. We include their most general interaction terms with the Standard Model Higgs boson, which leads to Leptoquark mixing after the former acquires a vacuum expectation value. In our phenomenological analysis we investigate the effects in modified lepton couplings to electroweak gauge bosons, we study the correlations of the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon with $h \to \mu^+\mu^-$ and $Z \to \mu^+\mu^-$ as well as the interplay between different lepton flavor violating decays.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Higgs Physics

ARXIV EPRINT: 2010.06593

source: https://doi.org/10.7892/boris.152861 | downloaded: 3.5.2024

OPEN ACCESS, © The Authors. Article funded by $SCOAP^3$.





^a CERN Theory Division,

CH-1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland

^bPhysik-Institut, Universität Zürich,

Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland

^cPaul Scherrer Institut,

CH-5232 Villigen PSI, Switzerland

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1			
2	Setup and conventions					
	2.1 Leptoquark-Higgs interactions and electroweak symmetry breaking					
	2.2	Leptoquark-fermion couplings	6			
	2.3	Leptoquark-Higgs couplings	7			
3	Self-energies, masses and renormalization					
	3.1	Neutrino masses	8			
	3.2	Renormalization	9			
4	Calculation of the one-loop effects					
	4.1	$\ell\ell\gamma$	11			
	4.2	$Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$	14			
	4.3	$W\ell\nu$	17			
	4.4	$h\ell\ell$	19			
	4.5	4ℓ	20			
	4.6	$2\ell 2\nu$	21			
5	Phenomenology					
	5.1	Electroweak gauge-boson couplings to leptons: $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$	22			
	5.2	Correlating the AMM of the muon with $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$ and $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$	23			
	5.3	Charged lepton flavor violation	26			
6	Con	clusions	29			
\mathbf{A}	Loop functions and formula with exact diagonalization of the leptoquark					
	mas	s matrices	32			
	A.1	Self-energies	32			
	A.2	Loop functions	34			
	A.3	Exact result for $\ell\ell\gamma$	36			
	A.4	Exact results for $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$, $W\ell\nu$ and $h\ell\ell$	36			
	A.5	Higgs, Z and W boson coupling matrices	43			
	A.6	4ℓ	45			
	A.7	$2\ell 2 u$	45			

1 Introduction

Leptoquarks (LQs) are particles with an interaction vertex connecting leptons with quarks. These particles are predicted by Grand Unified Theories [1-4] and were systematically classified for the first time in ref. [5] into ten possible representations under the Standard Model (SM) gauge group (five representations of scalar particles and five representations of vector particles). Their tree-level effects in low energy precision and flavor observables were studied comprehensively in ref. [6]. After the disappearance of the HERA excess [7, 8], which could have been interpreted as a LQ, the interest in LQs decreased until in recent years they experienced a renaissance due to the emergence of the *flavor anomalies*.

These flavor anomalies are hints for lepton flavor universality (LFU) violating NP in $R(D^{(*)})$ [9–14], $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ [15–20] and in the anomalous magnetic moment (AMM) of the muon (a_{μ}) [21], with a significance of $> 3\sigma$ [22–26], $> 5\sigma$ [27–34] and $> 3\sigma$ [35], respectively.¹ In this context, it has been shown that LQs can explain $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ data [40–66], $R(D^{(*)})$ [40, 41, 43–47, 49–51, 53, 54, 58–60, 62–65, 67–99] and/or a_{μ} [6, 62, 63, 65, 66, 71, 80, 83, 86, 95, 100–117], which makes them prime candidates for extending the SM with new particles.

Therefore, the search for LQ effects in observables other than the flavor anomalies is very well motivated. Complementary to direct LHC searches [118–131], oblique electroweak (EW) parameters and Higgs couplings to gauge bosons can be used to test LQs indirectly [132–136], as studied recently in detail in ref. [137]. In this article we focus on the purely leptonic processes $\ell \to \ell' \gamma$, a_{ℓ} , $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^{(\prime)-}$, $Z \to \nu \bar{\nu}$, $W \to \ell \nu$, $h \to \ell^+ \ell^{(\prime)-}$, $\ell \to 3\ell'$ and $\ell \to \ell' \nu \bar{\nu}$. The correlations between $h \to \tau \mu$ and $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ were studied in refs. [138, 139], between $Z \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ and a_{μ} in ref. [107] and between Z and W decays in ref. [140]. While in the references above no LQ mixing, induced via couplings to the SM Higgs, was considered, this has been done for a_{μ} in ref. [113] and for the case of the singlet-triplet model in refs. [65, 136]. However, a complete calculation of leptonic processes with scalar LQs, including all possible interaction terms with the SM Higgs, is still missing. This is the purpose of this article.

In the next section we define our conventions before we discuss the self-energies, masses and the renormalization in section 3. We then present the analytic results of LQ-induced effects in leptonic amplitudes in section 4. In section 5 we perform our phenomenological analysis, followed by the conclusions. The appendix contains further helpful results, in particular the generic expressions with exact diagonalization of the LQ mixing matrices.

2 Setup and conventions

As outlined in the introduction, LQs are prime candidates to explain the accumulated anomalies in semi-leptonic B meson decays. Since vector LQs, as any massive vector particle, are not renormalizable without a Higgs mechanism, and since we are interested in loop processes, we will study only scalar LQs in the following.

¹Also the (apparent) deficit in first row CKM unitarity can be interpreted as a sign of LFU violation [36-39].

The five different representations of scalar LQs transform under the SM gauge group

$$\mathcal{G}_{\rm SM} = \mathrm{SU}(3)_c \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{U}(1)_Y \tag{2.1}$$

as given in table 1. Note that we have two singlets under $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ (Φ_1 and $\tilde{\Phi}_1$), two doublets $(\Phi_2 \text{ and } \tilde{\Phi}_2)$ and one triplet Φ_3 . The fermion fields $Q^{(c)}$ and L are (charge-conjugated) quark and lepton $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ doublets, while $u^{(c)}$, $d^{(c)}$ and ℓ are the corresponding $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ singlets of up-quarks, down-quarks and charged leptons, respectively. The indices f and j refer to flavor and τ are the Pauli matrices, for which we use the convention

$$\tau_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tau_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tau_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (2.2)$$

We defined the hypercharge Y such that the electromagnetic charge is given by

$$Q = \frac{1}{2}Y + T_3 \,, \tag{2.3}$$

with T_3 representing the third component of the weak isospin $(\pm 1/2 \text{ for } SU(2)_L \text{ doublets})$ and 1, 0, -1 for the $SU(2)_L$ triplet). According to this relation, LQs can be decomposed into the electromagnetic charge eigenstates as

$$\Phi_1 \equiv \Phi_1^{-1/3} \,, \tag{2.4a}$$

$$\tilde{\Phi}_1 \equiv \tilde{\Phi}_1^{-4/3}, \qquad (2.4b)$$

$$\Phi_2 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_2^{5/3} \\ \Phi_2^{2/3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.4c)$$

$$\tilde{\Phi}_2 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\Phi}_2^{2/3} \\ \tilde{\Phi}_2^{-1/3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.4d)$$

$$\tau \cdot \Phi_3 \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_3^{-1/3} & \sqrt{2} \Phi_3^{2/3} \\ \sqrt{2} \Phi_3^{-4/3} & -\Phi_3^{-1/3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.4e)$$

where the superscripts refer to the electric charge.

The LQs couple according to their representation under the SM gauge group to gauge bosons, introduced for the first time in ref. [141], where we use the following definition for the covariant derivative

$$D_{\mu}\Phi = \left(\partial_{\mu} - ig_1\frac{Y}{2}B_{\mu} - ig_2T_kW^k_{\mu} - ig_s\frac{\lambda_a}{2}G^a_{\mu}\right)\Phi.$$
 (2.5)

Here, B_{μ} is the U(1)_Y gauge boson, W_{μ} the one of SU(2)_L and G_{μ} of SU(3)_c with the couplings g_1 , g_2 and g_s , respectively. The index k runs from 1 to 3, a from 1 to 8. T_k are the generators of SU(2) and λ_a are the well-known Gell-Mann matrices. For SU(2)_L singlets we have $T_k = 0$, for doublets we have $T_k = \tau_k/2$ with the Pauli matrices from eq. (2.2) while the SU(2)_L triplet Φ_3 is in the adjoint representation of SU(2). We use

$$T_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad T_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad T_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where Φ_3 is defined according to eq. (2.4e).

	$\mathcal{G}_{ ext{SM}}$	$\mathcal{L}_{ql\Phi}$
Φ_1	$\left(3,1,-\frac{2}{3}\right)$	$\left(\lambda_{fj}^{1R}\bar{u}_{f}^{c}\ell_{j}+\lambda_{fj}^{1L}\bar{Q}_{f}^{c}i\tau_{2}L_{j}\right)\Phi_{1}^{\dagger}+\text{h.c.}$
$ ilde{\Phi}_1$	$\left(3,1,-\frac{8}{3}\right)$	$ ilde{\lambda}_{fj}^1 ar{d}_f^c \ell_j ilde{\Phi}_1^\dagger + { m h.c.}$
Φ_2	$\left(3,2,rac{7}{3} ight)$	$\lambda_{fj}^{2RL} \bar{u}_f \Phi_2^T i \tau_2 L_j + \lambda_{fj}^{2LR} \bar{Q}_f \ell_j \Phi_2 + \text{h.c.}$
$ ilde{\Phi}_2$	$\left(3,2,rac{1}{3} ight)$	$\tilde{\lambda}_{fj}^2 \bar{d}_f \tilde{\Phi}_2^T i \tau_2 L_j + \text{h.c.}$
Φ_3	$\left(3,3,-\frac{2}{3}\right)$	$\lambda_{fj}^3 \bar{Q}_f^c i \tau_2 \left(\tau \cdot \Phi_3 \right)^{\dagger} L_j + \text{h.c.}$

Table 1. The five different possible scalar representations of LQs under the SM gauge group and their couplings to quarks and leptons. Note that in our conventions all LQs are $SU(3)_c$ triplets. The superscript T refers to transposition in $SU(2)_L$ space, c to charge conjugation and τ to the Pauli matrices. We did not include LQ couplings to two quarks, which are possible for some representations and which would lead to proton decays. Note that such couplings can always be avoided by assigning quark or lepton number to the SM fermions and to the LQs.

2.1 Leptoquark-Higgs interactions and electroweak symmetry breaking

In addition to their couplings to fermions and the gauge interactions, LQs can couple to the SM-like Higgs doublet H (with hypercharge +1) via the Lagrangian [142]

$$\mathcal{L}_{H\Phi} = \left(-A_{\tilde{2}1} (\tilde{\Phi}_{2}^{\dagger} H) \Phi_{1} + A_{\tilde{2}3} (\tilde{\Phi}_{2}^{\dagger} (\tau \cdot \Phi_{3}) H) + Y_{2\tilde{2}} (\Phi_{2}^{\dagger} H) (Hi\tau_{2} \tilde{\Phi}_{2}) \right. \\ \left. + Y_{3\tilde{1}} (Hi\tau_{2} (\tau \cdot \Phi_{3})^{\dagger} H) \tilde{\Phi}_{1} + Y_{13} (H^{\dagger} (\tau \cdot \Phi_{3}) H) \Phi_{1}^{\dagger} + \text{h.c.} \right) \\ \left. - Y_{22} (Hi\tau_{2} \Phi_{2}) (Hi\tau_{2} \Phi_{2})^{\dagger} - Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}} (Hi\tau_{2} \tilde{\Phi}_{2}) (Hi\tau_{2} \tilde{\Phi}_{2})^{\dagger} \right.$$

$$\left. - iY_{33} \varepsilon_{IJK} H^{\dagger} \tau_{I} H \Phi_{3,K}^{\dagger} \Phi_{3,J} \right.$$

$$\left. - \sum_{k=1}^{3} (m_{k}^{2} + Y_{k} H^{\dagger} H) \Phi_{k}^{\dagger} \Phi_{k} - \sum_{k=1}^{2} (\tilde{m}_{k}^{2} + Y_{\tilde{k}} H^{\dagger} H) \tilde{\Phi}_{k}^{\dagger} \tilde{\Phi}_{k} \right.$$

$$\left. \left. - \sum_{k=1}^{3} (m_{k}^{2} + Y_{k} H^{\dagger} H) \Phi_{k}^{\dagger} \Phi_{k} - \sum_{k=1}^{2} (\tilde{m}_{k}^{2} + Y_{\tilde{k}} H^{\dagger} H) \tilde{\Phi}_{k}^{\dagger} \tilde{\Phi}_{k} \right.$$

$$\left. \left. \right. \right\}$$

Here m_k^2 and \tilde{m}_k^2 represent the SU(2)_L invariant mass terms of the LQs before EW symmetry breaking and ε_{IJK} is the three-dimensional Levi-Civita tensor with $\varepsilon_{123} = 1$. For simplicity, we omitted the color indices, which are always contracted among the LQs. Note that $A_{\tilde{2}1}$ and $A_{\tilde{2}3}$ have mass dimension one, while the Y couplings are dimensionless.² The LQ-Higgs interactions depicted in figure 1 lead to mixing among the LQ representations after EW symmetry breaking.

Once the Higgs acquires its vacuum expectation value (vev) $v\approx 174\,{\rm GeV},$ this generates the mass matrices

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}}^{\mathrm{LQ}} = -\sum_{Q} \Phi_{Q}^{\dagger} \mathcal{M}^{Q} \Phi_{Q} \tag{2.8}$$

 $^{^{2}}$ We did not include terms with three or four LQ fields since they do not contribute at the one-loop level to the observables computed in this article.



Figure 1. Feynman diagrams depicting the LQ-Higgs interactions induced by the terms in the first two lines of eq. (2.7). If the physical Higgs h is replaced by its vev, mixing among the LQ representations is generated.

in the weak basis, with $Q = \{-1/3, 2/3, -4/3, 5/3\}$ and

$$\mathcal{M}^{-1/3} = \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 + v^2 Y_1 & v A_{\tilde{2}1}^* & v^2 Y_{13} \\ v A_{\tilde{2}1} & \tilde{m}_2^2 + v^2 Y_{\tilde{2}} & v A_{\tilde{2}3} \\ v^2 Y_{13}^* & v A_{\tilde{2}3}^* & m_3^2 + v^2 Y_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.9a)

$$\mathcal{M}^{2/3} = \begin{pmatrix} m_2^2 + v^2 Y_2 & v^2 Y_{2\tilde{2}} & 0 \\ v^2 Y_{2\tilde{2}}^* & \tilde{m}_2^2 + v^2 (Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}}) & -\sqrt{2}v A_{\tilde{2}3} \\ 0 & -\sqrt{2}v A_{\tilde{2}3}^* & m_3^2 + v^2 (Y_3 + Y_{33}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.9b)

$$\mathcal{M}^{-4/3} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{m}_1^2 + v^2 Y_{\tilde{1}} & \sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\tilde{1}}^* \\ \sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\tilde{1}} & m_3^2 + v^2 (Y_3 - Y_{33}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.9c)

$$\mathcal{M}^{5/3} = m_2^2 + v^2 (Y_{22} + Y_2), \qquad (2.9d)$$

where the eigenstates of the electric charge

$$\Phi_{-1/3} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1^{-1/3} \\ \tilde{\Phi}_2^{-1/3} \\ \Phi_3^{-1/3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.10a)$$

$$\Phi_{2/3} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_2^{2/3} \\ \tilde{\Phi}_2^{2/3} \\ \Phi_3^{2/3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.10b)$$

$$\Phi_{-4/3} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\Phi}_1^{-4/3} \\ \Phi_3^{-4/3} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (2.10c)$$

$$\Phi_{5/3} \equiv \Phi_2^{5/3} \,, \tag{2.10d}$$

are assembled from the LQ field components of eq. (2.4).

To work in the physical basis with mass eigenstates, in which the amplitudes are calculated, we need to diagonalize the mass matrices in eq. (2.9). This can be achieved by

a unitary transformation

$$\hat{\mathcal{M}}^Q = W^Q \mathcal{M}^Q W^{Q\dagger}, \qquad (2.11)$$

such that $\hat{\mathcal{M}}^Q$ is diagonal. This means that the interaction eigenstates in (2.10) are written as

$$W^Q \Phi_Q \equiv \hat{\Phi}^Q \,, \tag{2.12}$$

where $\hat{\Phi}^Q$ are the mass eigenstates. The analytic expressions for the diagonalization matrices $W^{-1/3}$ and $W^{2/3}$ are very lengthy or must be computed numerically. Therefore, we diagonalize the mass matrices perturbatively up to $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{LQ}^2)$, where *m* are the SU(2)_L invariant mass terms of the LQs. The analytic expressions for the perturbative W^Q read

$$W^{-1/3} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{2(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}1}^*}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & \frac{v^2 (Y_{13}(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2) + A_{\bar{2}1}^* A_{\bar{2}3})}{(m_1^2 - m_3^2)(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)} \\ \\ \frac{-vA_{\bar{2}1}}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 1 - \frac{v^2}{2} \left(\frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} + \frac{|A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} \right) & \frac{-vA_{\bar{2}3}}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \\ \\ \frac{-v^2 (Y_{13}^*(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2) + A_{\bar{2}1}A_{\bar{2}3}^*)}{(m_1^2 - m_3^2)(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)} & \frac{vA_{23}^*}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 1 - \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{2(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(2.13a)$$

$$W^{2/3} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{v^2 Y_{\tilde{2}_2}}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 0\\ \frac{-v^2 Y_{\tilde{2}_2}^*}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 1 - \frac{v^2 |A_{\tilde{2}_3}|^2}{(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} & \frac{-\sqrt{2}v A_{\tilde{2}_3}}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2}\\ 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}v A_{\tilde{2}_3}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} & 1 - \frac{v^2 |A_{\tilde{2}_3}|^2}{(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.13b)

$$W^{-4/3} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{\sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\bar{1}}^*}{\tilde{m}_1^2 - m_3^2} \\ \frac{-\sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\bar{1}}}{\tilde{m}_1^2 - m_3^2} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.13c)

Then the physical LQ masses are

$$\left(M_a^{-1/3} \right)^2 \approx \left(m_1^2 + v^2 \left(Y_1 - \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2} \right), \ \tilde{m}_2^2 + v^2 \left(Y_{\tilde{2}} + \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2} + \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} \right),$$

$$m_3^2 + v^2 \left(Y_3 - \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} \right) \right)_a,$$

$$(2.14a)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} M_a^{2/3} \end{pmatrix}^2 \approx \left(m_2^2 + v^2 Y_2, \ \tilde{m}_2^2 + v^2 \left(Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}} + \frac{2|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} \right) \right),$$

$$m_3^2 + v^2 \left(Y_3 + Y_{33} - \frac{2|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} \right) \right)_a,$$

$$(2.14b)$$

$$\left(M_a^{-4/3}\right)^2 \approx \left(\tilde{m}_1^2 + v^2 Y_{\tilde{1}}, \ m_3^2 + v^2 (Y_3 - Y_{33})\right)_a,$$
 (2.14c)

$$(M^{5/3})^2 \approx m_2^2 + v^2(Y_{22} + Y_2),$$
 (2.14d)

keeping terms up to order v^2 . The index *a* runs from 1 to 3 for Q = -1/3 and Q = 2/3 and from 1 to 2 for Q = -4/3, respectively.

2.2 Leptoquark-fermion couplings

EW symmetry breaking also leads to non-diagonal quark mass matrices in the weak basis, originating from the SM Yukawa couplings. Note that we can work in the basis with a diagonal lepton Yukawa coupling in the approximation of massless neutrinos. We therefore apply the following unitary rotation matrices on the left-handed quark fields

$$u_L \to U^{u_L} u_L, \qquad d_L \to U^{d_L} d_L, \qquad (2.15)$$

while the right-handed rotations can be absorbed by a redefinition of the LQ-quark-lepton couplings and are therefore unphysical. We now choose to work in the so-called down basis such that

$$U_{ji}^{u_L*} = V_{ij}, \qquad U_{ij}^{d_L} = \delta_{ij}, \qquad (2.16)$$

with V_{ij} being the CKM matrix. This means that CKM elements only appear in couplings involving up-type quarks.

We now decompose the LQ-fermion interactions in table 1 into their $SU(2)_L$ components and write them in terms of mass eigenstates

$$\mathcal{L}_{ql\Phi} = \left[\bar{u}_{i}^{c} \Big(\Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} P_{R} + \Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{L,a} P_{L} \Big) \ell_{j} + \Gamma_{d_{i}^{c}\nu_{j}}^{L,a} \bar{d}_{i}^{c} P_{L} \nu_{j} + \Gamma_{d_{i}\nu_{j}}^{L,a*} \bar{\nu}_{j} P_{R} d_{i} \right] \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{-1/3\dagger} \\
+ \left[\bar{d}_{i} \Big(\Gamma_{d_{i}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} P_{R} + \Gamma_{d_{i}\ell_{j}}^{L,a} P_{L} \Big) \ell_{j} + \Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\nu_{j}}^{L,a*} \bar{\nu}_{j} P_{R} u_{i}^{c} + \Gamma_{u_{i}\nu_{j}}^{L,a} \bar{u}_{i} P_{L} \nu_{j} \right] \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{2/3} \\
+ \left[\bar{d}_{i}^{c} \Big(\Gamma_{d_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} P_{R} + \Gamma_{d_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{L,a} P_{L} \Big) \ell_{j} \right] \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{-4/3\dagger} + \left[\bar{u}_{i} \Big(\Gamma_{u_{i}\ell_{j}}^{R} P_{R} + \Gamma_{u_{i}\ell_{j}}^{L} P_{L} \Big) \ell_{j} \right] \hat{\Phi}^{5/3} \\
+ \mathrm{h.c.},$$
(2.17)

with

$$\Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} = \lambda_{ij}^{1R}W_{a1}^{-1/3}, \qquad \Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\ell_{j}}^{L,a} = V_{ik}^{*} \left(\lambda_{kj}^{1L}W_{a1}^{-1/3} - \lambda_{kj}^{3}W_{a3}^{-1/3}\right), \\
\Gamma_{d_{i}\nu_{j}}^{L,a*} = -\tilde{\lambda}_{ij}^{2*}W_{a2}^{-1/3}, \qquad \Gamma_{d_{i}^{c}\nu_{j}}^{L,a} = -\left(\lambda_{ij}^{1L}W_{a1}^{-1/3} + \lambda_{ij}^{3}W_{a3}^{-1/3}\right), \\
\Gamma_{d_{i}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} = \lambda_{ij}^{2LR}W_{a1}^{2/3*}, \qquad \Gamma_{d_{i}\ell_{j}}^{L,a} = \tilde{\lambda}_{ij}^{2}W_{a2}^{2/3*}, \\
\Gamma_{u_{i}^{c}\nu_{j}}^{L,a*} = \sqrt{2}V_{ik}\lambda_{kj}^{3*}W_{a3}^{2/3*}, \qquad \Gamma_{u_{i}\nu_{j}}^{L,a} = -\lambda_{ij}^{2RL}W_{a1}^{2/3*}, \\
\Gamma_{d_{i}\ell_{j}}^{R,a} = \tilde{\lambda}_{ij}^{1}W_{a1}^{-4/3}, \qquad \Gamma_{d_{i}c\ell_{j}}^{L,a} = -\sqrt{2}\lambda_{ij}^{3}W_{a2}^{-4/3}, \\
\Gamma_{u_{i}\ell_{j}}^{R} = V_{ik}\lambda_{kj}^{2LR}, \qquad \Gamma_{u_{i}\ell_{j}}^{L} = \lambda_{ij}^{2RL}.$$
(2.18)

Note that the index a runs from 1 to 3 for Q = -1/3 and Q = 2/3, while for Q = -4/3 only from 1 to 2. Due to our choice of basis, the CKM matrix appears in all couplings involving left-handed up-type quarks. Similarly, also the PMNS matrix would enter in all couplings involving neutrinos in case they were taken to be massive. However, all processes that we are interested in can be calculated for massless neutrinos such that the PMNS matrix drops out. Nonetheless, we will return to the PMNS matrix in the next section when we discuss possible contributions to Majorana mass terms and the renormalization of the $W\ell\nu$ vertex.

2.3 Leptoquark-Higgs couplings

Let us finally consider the couplings of the SM Higgs to LQs. The interaction terms are also affected by the LQ rotations induced by EW symmetry breaking. Again, we express eq. (2.7) in terms of mass eigenstates as

$$\mathcal{L}_{H\Phi} = -\tilde{\Gamma}_{ab}^{1/3} h \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{-1/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{b}^{-1/3} - \tilde{\Gamma}_{ab}^{2/3} h \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{2/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{b}^{2/3} - \tilde{\Gamma}_{cd}^{4/3} h \hat{\Phi}_{c}^{-4/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{d}^{-4/3} - \Gamma^{5/3} h \hat{\Phi}^{5/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}^{5/3} - \tilde{\Lambda}_{ab}^{1/3} h^{2} \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{-1/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{b}^{-1/3} - \tilde{\Lambda}_{ab}^{2/3} h^{2} \hat{\Phi}_{a}^{2/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{b}^{2/3} - \tilde{\Lambda}_{cd}^{4/3} h^{2} \hat{\Phi}_{c}^{-4/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}_{d}^{-4/3} - \Lambda^{5/3} h^{2} \hat{\Phi}^{5/3} \dagger \hat{\Phi}^{5/3}, \qquad (2.19)$$

with h as the physical Higgs field, $a, b = \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $c, d = \{1, 2\}$. The couplings are defined as

$$\tilde{\Gamma}^{1/3} = W^{-1/3} \Gamma^{1/3} W^{-1/3\dagger}, \qquad \tilde{\Lambda}^{1/3} = W^{-1/3} \Lambda^{1/3} W^{-1/3\dagger},
\tilde{\Gamma}^{2/3} = W^{2/3} \Gamma^{2/3} W^{2/3\dagger}, \qquad \tilde{\Lambda}^{2/3} = W^{2/3} \Lambda^{2/3} W^{2/3\dagger},
\tilde{\Gamma}^{4/3} = W^{-4/3} \Gamma^{4/3} W^{-4/3\dagger}, \qquad \tilde{\Lambda}^{4/3} = W^{-4/3} \Lambda^{4/3} W^{-4/3\dagger},
\Gamma^{5/3} = \sqrt{2} v (Y_{22} + Y_2), \qquad \Lambda^{5/3} = \frac{1}{2} (Y_{22} + Y_2),$$
(2.20)

where the Γ^Q and Λ^Q matrices read

$$\Gamma^{1/3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2vY_1 & A_{\tilde{2}_1}^* & 2vY_{13} \\ A_{\tilde{2}_1} & 2vY_{\tilde{2}} & A_{\tilde{2}_3} \\ 2vY_{13}^* & A_{\tilde{2}_3}^* & 2vY_3 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad \Lambda^{1/3} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y_1 & 0 & Y_{13} \\ 0 & Y_{\tilde{2}} & 0 \\ Y_{13}^* & 0 & Y_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.21a)
$$\Gamma^{2/3} = \frac{1}{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 2vY_2 & 2vY_{2\tilde{2}} & 0 \\ 2vY_{13}^* & 2v(Y_{\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}}) & -\sqrt{2}A_{\tilde{2}_3} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \Lambda^{2/3} = \frac{1}{-1} \begin{pmatrix} Y_2 & Y_{2\tilde{2}} & 0 \\ Y_{13}^* & Y_{\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{3}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 20T_{22} & 20(T_2 + T_{22}) & -\sqrt{2}A_{23} \\ 0 & -\sqrt{2}A_{23}^* & 2v(Y_3 + Y_{33}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} T_{22} & T_2 + T_{22} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & Y_3 + Y_{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.21b)

$$\Gamma^{4/3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2vY_{\tilde{1}} & 2vY_{3\tilde{1}} \\ 2vY_{3\tilde{1}} & 2v(Y_3 - Y_{3\tilde{3}}) \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad \Lambda^{4/3} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{\tilde{1}} & Y_{3\tilde{1}} \\ Y_{3\tilde{1}} & Y_3 - Y_{3\tilde{3}} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.21c)

The expanded expressions for $\tilde{\Gamma}^Q$ and $\tilde{\Lambda}^Q$ are given in the appendix A.5.

3 Self-energies, masses and renormalization

Self-energies of SM fermions after $SU(2)_L$ breaking are directly related to their masses and enter the calculations of effective fermion-fermion-gauge-boson and fermion-fermion-Higgs couplings. In this section, we will first calculate the self-energies, then discuss the issue of renormalization and how the self-energies are included in the calculation of modified gauge-boson and Higgs couplings.

First, let us define the mass and kinetic terms of the charged lepton and neutrino Lagrangian in momentum space

$$\mathcal{L}^{\ell\nu} = \delta_{fi} \left(\bar{\ell}_f \left(\not\!\!\!p - m_f^\ell \right) \ell_i + \bar{\nu}_f \not\!\!\!p \nu_i - \frac{m_f^\nu}{2} \bar{\nu}_f^c \nu_i \right) \,. \tag{3.1}$$

We allowed for the possibility of Majorana mass terms for the neutrinos, which can be generated via LQs. We then moved to the physical basis in which all mass matrices are diagonal, such that the CKM matrix V (the PMNS matrix \hat{V}) appears in the Wud ($W\ell\nu$) vertex. Considering only the leptonic part, we have explicitly

$$\mathcal{L}_{W}^{\ell\nu} = \frac{g_2}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{V}_{fi} \bar{\ell}_f \gamma^{\mu} \nu_i W_{\mu}^{-} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

We define the self-energies of charged leptons as follows

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\ell_i & \\
p & \\
e & \\$$

and decompose $\Sigma^\ell_{fi}(p^2)$ as

and similarly for neutrinos, where only the LL self-energy exists, but a possible contribution to the neutrino mass term arises.

We now expand $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell AB}(p^2)$ with $A, B = \{L, R\}$ in terms of p^2/m_{LQ}^2 , where *m* represents the LQ mass. Only the leading terms in this expansion (i.e. the ones independent of p^2) are UV divergent and non-decoupling. Furthermore, they are the only relevant ones in the calculation of $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$, $W\ell\nu$ and $h\ell\ell$ vertices to be discussed later. The terms linear in p^2/m^2 are only necessary to calculate $\ell \to \ell'\gamma$. However, as they are finite and do not affect the renormalization of any parameter, they can be included in the calculation of $\ell \to \ell'\gamma$ in a straightforward way and we do not give the explicit results here. The ones for $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell,\nu AB} \equiv \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell,\nu AB}(0)$ are given in the appendix A.1.

3.1 Neutrino masses

The contribution to the Majorana mass term of the neutrinos can be calculated by considering the $\bar{\nu}_f^c \nu_i$ two-point function. We have generically

$$m_{ij}^{\nu LQ} = \frac{-m_{q_k} N_c \left(\Gamma_{q_k \nu_i}^L \Gamma_{q_k \nu_j}^L + \Gamma_{q_k \nu_j}^{L*} \Gamma_{q_k \nu_i}^{L*}\right)}{16\pi^2} \mathcal{I}_0 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{M^2}, \frac{m_{q_k}^2}{M^2}\right),$$
(3.5)

where we neglected the external momenta. An implicit sum over all internal quarks u, d, u^c and d^c as well as over their flavors and the corresponding LQs is understood. The loop function \mathcal{I}_0 is given in the appendix A.1.



Figure 2. One-loop self-energy diagrams generating Majorana-like neutrino masses. On the lefthand side, we have a down-type quark in the loop. In the case of up-type quarks, the leading contribution only occurs at $\mathcal{O}(v^3)$.

After summation one can expand this expression in terms of v/m_{LQ} . In this way, one recovers the two diagrams shown in figure 2 and finds

$$\begin{split} m_{ij}^{\nu \mathrm{LQ}} &\approx \frac{m_{d_k} N_c v}{16\pi^2 \tilde{m}_2^2} \Biggl(\left(\lambda_{ki}^{1L} \tilde{\lambda}_{kj}^2 A_{\tilde{2}1} + \lambda_{kj}^{1L*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ki}^{2*} A_{\tilde{2}1}^* \right) \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \\ &+ \left(\lambda_{ki}^3 \tilde{\lambda}_{kj}^2 A_{\tilde{2}3} + \lambda_{kj}^{3*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ki}^{2*} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* \right) \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \Biggr) + \mathcal{O}(m_d v^3 / m^4) \\ &+ \frac{m_{u_l} N_c v^3}{8\pi^2} \frac{\lambda_{lj}^{2RL} V_{lk}^* \lambda_{ki}^3 A_{\tilde{2}3} Y_{2\tilde{2}} + \lambda_{li}^{2RL*} V_{lk} \lambda_{kj}^{3*} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* Y_{2\tilde{2}}^*}{m_2^2 (\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)} \left(\mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{\tilde{m}_2^2}{m_2^2} \right) - \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{m_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(m_{u_l} v^4 / m^5) \,, \end{split}$$
(3.6)

where the first two lines agree with ref. [143], originating from down-type quark contributions. The third line, generated by couplings to up-type quarks, was not given previously in the literature. Note that for the latter, the leading contribution only appears at $\mathcal{O}(v^3)$, see figure 2, while for down-type quarks already a v^1 term exists and higher orders in v do not generate new, independent coupling structures. The loop function \mathcal{H}_1 is given in the appendix A.2.

3.2 Renormalization

With these expressions at hand, we can include the loop effects into the Lagrangian of eq. (3.1) to obtain

The superscript (0) indicates the bare (unrenormalized) quantities. Now we have to make the kinetic terms canonical again and render the mass matrices diagonal in order to arrive at the physical basis. We start with the kinetic terms, which are made diagonal and correctly normalized once the shifts

$$\ell_{fL} \to \left(\delta_{fi} + \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LL}\right)\ell_{iL},$$
(3.8a)

$$\ell_{fR} \to \left(\delta_{fi} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RR}\right) \ell_{iR} \,, \tag{3.8b}$$

$$\nu_f \to \left(\delta_{fi} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{fi}^{\nu LL}\right) \nu_i \,, \tag{3.8c}$$

have been applied. These shifts enter in all observables with external lepton fields, i.e. they also lead to effects in gauge-boson couplings to leptons. Therefore, we include them in this way in our calculations later on.

In addition, these field redefinitions affect the mass terms for charged leptons, which then read [144]

$$\mathcal{L}_{m}^{\ell} = -\bar{\ell}_{f} \left(m_{i}^{\ell(0)} \delta_{fi} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LL} m_{i}^{\ell(0)} + \frac{1}{2} m_{f}^{\ell(0)} \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RR} + \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LR} P_{R} + \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RL} P_{L} \right) \ell_{i} , \qquad (3.9)$$

and for neutrinos we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{m}^{\nu} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\nu}_{f}^{c} \left(m_{f}^{\nu(0)} \delta_{fi} + \frac{1}{2} m_{f}^{\nu(0)} \Sigma_{fi}^{\nu LL} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{fi}^{\nu LL*} m_{i}^{\nu(0)} + m_{fi}^{\nu LQ} \right) \nu_{i} \,. \tag{3.10}$$

These matrices can now be diagonalized as

$$U_{f'f}^{\ell L*} \left(\left(\delta_{f'j} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{f'j}^{\ell LL} \right) m_j^{(0)} \left(\delta_{ji'} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{ji'}^{\ell RR} \right) + \Sigma_{ji'}^{\ell LR} \right) U_{i'i}^{\ell R} = m_i^{\ell} \delta_{fi} ,$$

$$U_{f'f}^{\nu} \left(m_{f'}^{\nu(0)} \delta_{f'i'} + \frac{1}{2} m_{f'}^{\nu(0)} \Sigma_{f'i'}^{\nu LL} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{f'i'}^{\nu LL*} m_{i'}^{\nu(0)} + m_{f'i'}^{\nu LQ} \right) U_{i'i}^{\nu} = m_i^{\nu} \delta_{fi} ,$$
(3.11)

with m_i^{ℓ} and m_i^{ν} being the physical masses. The unitary matrix $U^{\ell L}$ is given by

$$U^{\ell L} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{\Sigma_{12}^{\ell LR}}{m_2^{\ell}} + \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{12}^{\ell LL} & \frac{\Sigma_{13}^{\ell LR}}{m_3^{\ell}} + \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{13}^{\ell LL} \\ -\frac{\Sigma_{12}^{\ell LR*}}{m_2^{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{12}^{\ell LL*} & 1 & \frac{\Sigma_{23}^{\ell LR}}{m_3^{\ell}} + \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{23}^{\ell LL} \\ -\frac{\Sigma_{13}^{\ell LR*}}{m_3^{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{13}^{\ell LL*} - \frac{\Sigma_{23}^{\ell LR*}}{m_3^{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{23}^{\ell LL*} & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.12)

We used the lepton mass hierarchy to simplify $U^{\ell L}$ and the fact that the self-energies are just corrections to a diagonal matrix to get an explicit expression. $U^{\ell R}$ is simply obtained by exchanging L and R.

These unitary rotations (or at leading order the unit matrix plus anti-hermitian corrections) do not have a physical effect in the sense that they cannot be measured in observables. In fact, they correspond to unphysical rotations, in case of $U^{\ell R}$, or they can be absorbed by a renormalization of the PMNS matrix, in case of $U^{\ell L}$ and U^{ν} . This can also be seen by applying these rotations to gauge bosons vertices, where they drop out for the Z interaction terms and only enter the $W\ell\nu$ vertex in the combination

$$\hat{V}_{fi} = U_{f'f}^{\ell L*} \hat{V}_{f'i'}^{(0)} U_{i'i}^{\nu} , \qquad (3.13)$$

where \hat{V} on the left-hand side of the equation is identified with the PMNS matrix, see eq. (3.2).

Finally, let us consider the $h\ell\ell$ vertex. Here we have

$$-h\bar{\ell}_{f}U_{f'f}^{\ell L*}\left(\left(\delta_{f'j}+\frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{f'j}^{\ell LL}\right)Y_{j}^{\ell(0)}\left(\delta_{ji'}+\frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{ji'}^{\ell RR}\right)+\Lambda_{ji'}^{\ell LR}\right)U_{i'i}^{\ell R}P_{R}\ell_{i},\qquad(3.14)$$

where $Y_j^{\ell(0)} = m_j^{\ell(0)}/v$ and $\Lambda_{ji'}^{\ell LR}$ represents the genuine vertex correction. Therefore, the effective Yukawa coupling measured in $h \to \ell^+ \ell'^-$ decays can be expressed in terms of the physical lepton mass and $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LR}$ as follows

$$Y_{fi}^{\ell \text{eff}} = \frac{m_i^\ell \delta_{fi} - \Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LR}}{v} + \Lambda_{fi}^{\ell LR} \,. \tag{3.15}$$

4 Calculation of the one-loop effects

In this section, we compute the amplitudes governing the various purely leptonic observables. For this we take into account the Higgs-induced mixing among the different LQ representations. We will consider amplitudes involving the following fields:

- 1. $\ell\ell\gamma$
- 2. $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$
- 3. $W\ell\nu$
- 4. $h\ell\ell$
- 5. 4ℓ
- 6. $2\ell 2\nu$

For our purpose, the gauge bosons and the Higgs can be both on- and off-shell while the leptons are all on-shell. We set all lepton masses to zero, except for $\ell_i \rightarrow \ell_f \gamma$, where we expand up to the first non-vanishing order. In addition, we expanded the loop integrals in $m_{\rm EW}/m_{\rm LQ}$, where $m_{\rm EW} \approx v$ can denote m_W , m_Z , m_H or m_t . Furthermore, we expanded the mass eigenvalues of the LQs and the mixing matrices in $v/m_{\rm LQ}$, while the results obtained with exact diagonalization of the LQ mass matrices are given in the appendix. Note that we do not include Higgs or gauge-boson self-energies in our calculations. Such effects are flavor universal, drop out at leading order if branching ratios are considered and are already included in the oblique parameters [145, 146] as studied in ref. [137].

4.1 $\ell\ell\gamma$

In case of an on-shell photon, we define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{\ell\ell\gamma} = C_{\ell_f\ell_i}^L O_{\ell_f\ell_i}^L + C_{\ell_f\ell_i}^R O_{\ell_f\ell_i}^R \,, \tag{4.1}$$

with

$$O_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R)} = \frac{e}{16\pi^2} \left[\bar{\ell}_f \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{L(R)} \ell_i \right] F_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{4.2}$$

Note that we have $C_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R = C_{\ell_i \ell_f}^{L*}$ due to the hermiticity of the Hamiltonian.



Figure 3. The vertex diagrams which contribute to $\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma$. Depending on the electric charge of the LQ, we have (charge-conjugated) up- or down-type quarks in the loop.

The coefficients are induced by the diagrams in figure 3 and for a single LQ representation only are given by

$$C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,\Phi_{1}} \approx \frac{N_{c}(m_{\ell_{f}}\lambda_{jf}^{1L*}\lambda_{ji}^{1L} + m_{\ell_{i}}\lambda_{jf}^{1R*}\lambda_{ji}^{1R})}{24m_{1}^{2}} - \frac{N_{c}m_{t}}{12m_{1}^{2}}\lambda_{3f}^{1R*}V_{3k}^{*}\lambda_{ki}^{1L}\left(\mathcal{E}_{1}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{1}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{1}}{m_{1}^{2}}\mathcal{E}_{2}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{1}^{2}}\right)\right), \qquad (4.3a)$$

$$C_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,\tilde{\Phi}_1} \approx \frac{-m_{\ell_i} \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{1*}}{12 \tilde{m}_1^2}, \qquad (4.3b)$$

$$C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,\Phi_{2}} \approx \frac{-N_{c}\left(m_{\ell_{f}}\lambda_{jf}^{2LR*}\lambda_{ji}^{2LR} + m_{\ell_{i}}\lambda_{jf}^{2RL*}\lambda_{ji}^{2RL}\right)}{8m_{2}^{2}} + \frac{N_{c}m_{t}}{12m_{2}^{2}}V_{3k}^{*}\lambda_{kf}^{2LR*}\lambda_{3i}^{2RL}\left(\mathcal{E}_{3}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}(Y_{22}+Y_{2})}{m_{2}^{2}}\mathcal{E}_{4}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}}\right)\right), \qquad (4.3c)$$

$$C^{L,\tilde{\Phi}_2}_{\ell_f \ell_i} \approx 0\,, \tag{4.3d}$$

$$C_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,\Phi_3} \approx \frac{-N_c m_{\ell_f} \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3}{8m_3^2},$$
 (4.3e)

where the quark index j runs from 1 to 3. We expanded the results up to the first nonvanishing order in external momenta and masses. Note that the Wilson coefficients are composed by two parts: a contribution which is proportional to $m_{\ell_{f,i}}$ and a contribution proportional to the quark mass, originating from a chirality flip on the internal quark line. The latter term appears only if a LQ couples simultaneously to left- and right-handed up- or down-type quarks. E.g. for the AMM of the muon this effect dominates in cases where we couple to third generation quarks, i.e. generates a relative enhancement by a factor $m_t/m_{\mu} \sim 1600$ or $m_b/m_{\mu} \sim 40$, respectively. Therefore, these terms are the most important ones from the phenomenological point of view. And for our results with m_t and m_b we also include the $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{LQ}^2)$ terms, originating from the Higgs-LQ interaction, while we only present the leading order effects for the $m_{\ell_{f,i}}$ terms. Turning to the contributions with multiple LQ representations, i.e. the terms involving LQ mixing, we also focus on the terms proportional to $m_{b,t}$ and we find

$$C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L} \approx \frac{-N_{c}m_{t}v^{2}}{12m_{1}^{2}} \left[\lambda_{3f}^{1R*}V_{3k}^{*}\lambda_{ki}^{1L} \frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{E}_{5}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) + \lambda_{3f}^{1R*}V_{3k}^{*}\lambda_{ki}^{3}\left(\frac{Y_{13}}{m_{3}^{2}}\mathcal{E}_{6}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) + \frac{A_{\bar{2}3}A_{\bar{2}1}^{*}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}}\mathcal{E}_{7}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right] + \frac{N_{c}m_{b}v^{2}}{12}\left[\frac{\lambda_{3f}^{2LR*}\tilde{\lambda}_{3i}^{2}Y_{2\bar{2}}^{*}}{\tilde{m}_{4}^{4}}\mathcal{E}_{8}\left(\frac{m_{b}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{2}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) + \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_{3f}^{1*}\lambda_{3i}^{3}Y_{3\bar{1}}^{*}}{m_{3}^{4}}\mathcal{E}_{9}\left(\frac{m_{b}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right)\right].$$

$$(4.4)$$

The involved loop functions are given explicitly in the appendix A.2 and the general analytical results in appendix A.3. Note that we assumed the quarks of the first two generations to be massless and that we integrated out the bottom and top quark together with the LQs. This means that eq. (4.3) and eq. (4.4) should be understood to be at the low scale, such that the mixing of the four-fermion operators into the magnetic one is already included, reproducing the logarithms.

Considering $\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma^*$ transitions with a momentum configuration $q^2 = (p_i - p_f)^2$, we define the amplitude

$$\mathcal{A}(\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma^*) = -eq^2 \,\bar{u}(p_f, m_f) \, \notin^*(q) \left(\delta_{fi} + \widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^L P_L + \widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^R P_R \right) u(p_i, m_i) \,. \tag{4.5}$$

We first give the separate contributions of each LQ representation

$$\Xi_{fi}^{L,\Phi_1} \approx \frac{-N_c \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} V_{jk} V_{jl}^* \lambda_{li}^{1L}}{288\pi^2 m_1^2} \left(\mathcal{F}_1\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}\right) - \frac{v^2 Y_1}{m_1^2} \mathcal{F}_2\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}\right) + \frac{v^2 |A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{F}_3\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}, \frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \right), \quad (4.6a)$$

$$\Xi_{fi}^{R,\Phi_1} \approx \frac{-N_c \lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ji}^{1R}}{288\pi^2 m_1^2} \left(\mathcal{F}_1\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}\right) - \frac{v^2 Y_1}{m_1^2} \mathcal{F}_2\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}\right) + \frac{v^2 |A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{F}_3\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2}, \frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \right), \quad (4.6b)$$

$$\Xi_{fi}^{R,\tilde{\Phi}_{1}} \approx \frac{N_{c}\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*}\tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{1}}{144\pi^{2}\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}} \left(\mathcal{F}_{4}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{\tilde{1}}}{\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}}\mathcal{F}_{8}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}}\right) \right),$$
(4.6c)

$$\Xi_{fi}^{L,\Phi_2} \approx \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL}}{288\pi^2 m_2^2} \left(\mathcal{F}_5\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2}\right) - \frac{v^2 (Y_2 + Y_{22})}{m_2^2} \mathcal{F}_6\left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2}\right) \right), \tag{4.6d}$$

$$\Xi_{fi}^{R,\Phi_2} \approx \frac{N_c}{288\pi^2 m_2^2} \left(V_{jk}^* \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^{2LR} \left(\mathcal{F}_5 \left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 (Y_2 + Y_{22})}{m_2^2} \mathcal{F}_6 \left(\frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) \right), \\ -2\lambda_{jf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ji}^{2LR} \left(\mathcal{F}_7 \left(\frac{m_{d_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) - \frac{2v^2 Y_2}{m_2^2} \mathcal{F}_8 \left(\frac{m_{d_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) \right) \right),$$

$$(4.6e)$$

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{fi}^{L,\tilde{\Phi}_{2}} &\approx \frac{-N_{c}\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*}\tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2}}{144\pi^{2}\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \left(\mathcal{F}_{7}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}(Y_{\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}})}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{4}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) + \frac{v^{2}|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{F}_{9}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right), \quad (4.6f) \\ \Xi_{fi}^{L,\Phi_{3}} &\approx \frac{-N_{c}}{288\pi^{2}m_{3}^{2}} \left(\lambda_{kf}^{3*}V_{jk}V_{jl}^{*}\lambda_{li}^{3} \left(\mathcal{F}_{1}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{3}}{m_{3}^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{2}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) + \frac{v^{2}|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{F}_{3}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}, \frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right), \quad (4.6f) \\ &- 4\lambda_{jf}^{3*}\lambda_{ji}^{3} \left(\mathcal{F}_{4}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) - \frac{v^{2}(Y_{3} - Y_{33})}{m_{3}^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{8}\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) \right) \right). \quad (4.6g) \end{split}$$



Figure 4. Vertex diagrams which contribute to $Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ and $Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i$. Note that in case of mixing among LQs, the Z coupling, unlike the photon, can connect different representations with each other.

If we include LQ Higgs interactions, we find a new structure originating from Φ_1 - Φ_3 mixing

$$\tilde{\Xi}_{fi}^{L} \approx \frac{N_{c}v^{2}\lambda_{kf}^{3*}V_{jk}V_{jl}^{*}\lambda_{li}^{1L}}{288\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{Y_{13}^{*}}{m_{3}^{4}}\mathcal{F}_{10}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) + \frac{A_{\tilde{2}1}A_{\tilde{2}3}^{*}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{6}}\mathcal{F}_{11}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right) \\ + \frac{N_{c}v^{2}\lambda_{kf}^{1L*}V_{jk}V_{jl}^{*}\lambda_{li}^{3}}{288\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{Y_{13}}{m_{3}^{4}}\mathcal{F}_{10}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) + \frac{A_{\tilde{2}3}A_{\tilde{2}1}^{*}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{6}}\mathcal{F}_{11}\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right),$$

$$(4.7)$$

at $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{LQ}^2)$. The quark index j runs from 1 to 3 and the loop functions are given in the appendix A.2. Note that we again assumed that the quarks can be integrated out at the same scale as the LQs. This means that the expressions should be understood to be at the low scale and include the mixing of two-quark-two-lepton operators into four-fermion ones. Therefore, in case the quark is lighter than the corresponding leptonic process, one has to insert the scale of that process (rather than the quark mass) into the logarithms of the loop functions in appendix A.2.

4.2 $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$

We now compute the LQ effects on the $Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ and $Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i$ amplitudes, depicted in figure 4

$$\mathcal{A}(Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+) = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \bar{u}(p_f, m_{\ell_f}) \not\in (q) \left(\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(q^2) P_L + \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(q^2) P_R \right) v(p_i, m_{\ell_i}) , \qquad (4.8a)$$

$$\mathcal{A}(Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i) = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \Theta_{\nu_f \nu_i}(q^2) \bar{u}(p_f) \not \in (q) P_L v(p_i) , \qquad (4.8b)$$

with $\varepsilon^{\mu}(q)$ as the polarization vector of the Z boson and $q^2 = (p_f + p_i)^2$. In addition, there is an magnetic form factor for $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$. However, we do not give the form factor of this amplitude explicitly, since it does not interfere with the SM for $m_{\ell} = 0$. We perform this calculation for vanishing lepton masses and decompose the form factors as

$$\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R)}(q^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L(R)}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \sum_{\Phi} \Delta_{L(R),fi}^{\Phi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Delta}_{L(R),fi}, \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$\Theta_{\nu_f \nu_i}(q^2) = \Theta_{\rm SM}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \sum_{\Phi} \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Theta}_{fi} \,. \tag{4.9b}$$

The $\Delta_{L(R),fi}^{\Phi}(q^2)$ and $\Theta_{fi}^{\Phi}(q^2)$ contain the part with no LQ mixing, grouped into $\Phi = \{\Phi_1, \tilde{\Phi}_1, \Phi_2, \tilde{\Phi}_2, \Phi_3\}$, while the $\tilde{\Delta}_{L(R),fi}$ and $\tilde{\Theta}_{fi}$ contain the part induced by LQ mixing. In our conventions, the tree-level SM couplings read

$$\Lambda_{\rm SM}^L = s_w^2 - \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \qquad \Lambda_{\rm SM}^R = s_w^2, \qquad \qquad \Theta_{\rm SM} = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (4.10)$$

with s_w (c_w) being the sine (cosine) of the Weinberg angle. Beyond tree-level, also the SM couplings receive momentum dependent corrections, which are included in the predictions for EW observables that we study later in the phenomenological analysis.

In our calculation we only include contributions of $\mathcal{O}(m_{\rm EW}^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2)$, i.e. effects from the top quark, the Z mass as well as the ones induced by LQ mixing, while setting all other masses to zero.³ In case where the Z boson has a squared momentum q^2 we find

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{L,fi}^{\Phi_1}(q^2) &\approx \frac{-N_c \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} V_{3k} V_{3j}^* \lambda_{ji}^{1L}}{32\pi^2} \bigg[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{18m_1^2} \left(11 - 10s_w^2 + 2(3 - 4s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{q^2}{180m_1^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left(16s_w^2 - 9\right) \bigg] \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} V_{jk} V_{jl}^* \lambda_{li}^{1L}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_1^2} \bigg[3 - 3i\pi (4s_w^2 - 3) - 5s_w^2 + 3(4s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_1^2}\right) \bigg] \,, \end{split}$$

$$(4.11a)$$

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{R,fi}^{\Phi_1}(q^2) &\approx \frac{N_c \lambda_{3f}^{1R*} \lambda_{3i}^{1R}}{32\pi^2} \bigg[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{18m_1^2} \left(3 + 10s_w^2 + 8s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right)\right) \\ &+ \frac{q^2}{180m_1^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left(16s_w^2 - 3\right) \bigg] \end{split} \tag{4.11b}$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ji}^{1R}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_1^2} \left[5s_w^2 + 12i\pi s_w^2 - 12s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_1^2}\right) \right],$$

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{\tilde{\Phi}_1}(q^2) \approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^1}{432\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{\tilde{m}_1^2} \left[s_w^2 - 3i\pi s_w^2 + 3s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{\tilde{m}_1^2}\right) \right],$$
 (4.11c)

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) \approx \frac{-N_c \lambda_{3f}^{2RL*} \lambda_{3i}^{2RL}}{32\pi^2} \left[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{9m_2^2} \left(1 + 7s_w^2 + 4s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\right)\right) + \frac{q^2}{180m_2^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left(16s_w^2 - 3\right) \right]$$
(4.11d)

$$\begin{split} -\sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL}}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_2^2} \left[3 - 2s_w^2 + 24i\pi s_w^2 - 24s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_2^2}\right) \right], \\ \Delta_{R,fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) &\approx \frac{N_c V_{3k}^* \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} V_{3j} \lambda_{ji}^{2LR}}{32\pi^2} \left[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{9m_2^2} \left(6 - 7s_w^2 + (3 - 4s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\right) \right) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{q^2}{180m_2^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left(16s_w^2 - 9 \right) \right] \\ \left. + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{N_c V_{jk}^* \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^{2LR}}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_2^2} \left[3 + 2s_w^2 - 6i\pi (4s_w^2 - 3) + 6(4s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_2^2}\right) \right] \right. \\ \left. - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ji}^{2LR}}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_2^2} \left[3 - 6i\pi (2s_w^2 - 3) - 8s_w^2 + 6(2s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_2^2}\right) \right], \quad (4.11e) \end{split}$$

³Similar results for the diquark contribution to $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$ have been obtained in ref. [147].

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{L,fi}^{\tilde{\Phi}_{2}}(q^{2}) &\approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_{c} \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2}}{1728\pi^{2}} \frac{q^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \left[3 - 8s_{w}^{2} - 12i\pi s_{w}^{2} + 12s_{w}^{2} \log\left(\frac{q^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right) \right], \end{split} \tag{4.11f} \\ \Delta_{L,fi}^{\Phi_{3}}(q^{2}) &\approx \frac{-N_{c} V_{3k} \lambda_{kf}^{3*} V_{3j}^{*} \lambda_{ji}^{3}}{32\pi^{2}} \left[\mathcal{H}_{0}\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) - \frac{q^{2}}{18m_{3}^{2}} \left(11 - 10s_{w}^{2} + 2(3 - 4s_{w}^{2}) \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right)\right) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{q^{2}}{180m_{3}^{2}} \frac{q^{2}}{m_{t}^{2}} \left(16s_{w}^{2} - 9\right) \right] \\ &\left. - \frac{2}{\sum_{j=1}^{2}} \frac{N_{c} V_{jk} \lambda_{kf}^{3*} V_{jl}^{*} \lambda_{li}^{3}}{864\pi^{2}} \frac{q^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}} \left[3 - 3i\pi (4s_{w}^{2} - 3) - 5s_{w}^{2} + 3(4s_{w}^{2} - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) \right] \\ &\left. - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_{c} \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{3}}{216\pi^{2}} \frac{q^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}} \left[3i\pi (2s_{w}^{2} - 3) - 2s_{w}^{2} - 3(2s_{w}^{2} - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right) \right], \end{aligned} \tag{4.11g}$$

where we expanded the results in $q^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2$ and $m_t^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2.$ Finally, the contributions from LQ mixing read

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,fi} \approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-v^2 N_c}{64\pi^2 \tilde{m}_2^4} \left[\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} |A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2 \mathcal{H}_3\left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right) + \left(\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3 + 2\tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^2\right) |A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2 \mathcal{H}_3\left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \right. \\ \left. + \left(\lambda_{jf}^{1L} \lambda_{ji}^{3*} A_{\tilde{2}1} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* + \lambda_{jf}^3 \lambda_{ji}^{1L*} A_{\tilde{2}3} A_{\tilde{2}1}^*\right) \mathcal{H}_4\left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \right],$$
(4.12a)

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,fi} \approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-v^2 N_c}{64\pi^2 \tilde{m}_2^4} \lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ji}^{1R} |A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2 \mathcal{H}_3\left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\right),\tag{4.12b}$$

where the \mathcal{H} -functions are given in appendix A.2.

Now we turn to the $Z\to\nu_f\bar\nu_i$ amplitudes, where we show the contributions again separated by each representation

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi_1}(q^2) &\approx \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_1^2} \bigg[3 - s_w^2 + 3i\pi(3 - 2s_w^2) - 3(3 - 2s_w^2) \log\bigg(\frac{q^2}{m_1^2}\bigg) \bigg] \,, \quad (4.13a) \\ \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) &\approx \frac{-N_c \lambda_{3f}^{2RL*} \lambda_{3i}^{2RL}}{32\pi^2} \bigg[\mathcal{H}_0\bigg(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\bigg) - \frac{2q^2}{9m_2^2} \bigg(1 + 3s_w^2 + 2s_w^2 \log\bigg(\frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2}\bigg) \bigg) \\ &\qquad + \frac{q^2}{180m_2^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \bigg(16s_w^2 - 3\bigg) \bigg] \\ &\qquad + \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL}}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_2^2} \bigg[3 - 4s_w^2 - 24i\pi s_w^2 + 24s_w^2 \log\bigg(\frac{q^2}{m_2^2}\bigg) \bigg] \,, \quad (4.13c) \\ \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) &\approx \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^2}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \bigg[3 + 2s_w^2 + 12i\pi s_w^2 - 12s_w^2 \log\bigg(\frac{q^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}\bigg) \bigg] \,, \quad (4.13c) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi_3}(q^2) &\approx \frac{-N_c V_{3k} \lambda_{ki}^{3*} V_{3j}^* \lambda_{jf}^3}{16\pi^2} \left[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_3^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{18m_3^2} \left(13 - 12s_w^2 + (6 - 8s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_3^2}\right) \right) \\ &- \frac{q^2}{180m_3^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left(16s_w^2 - 9 \right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c V_{jk} \lambda_{ki}^{3*} V_{jl}^* \lambda_{lf}^3}{432\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_3^2} \left[2s_w^2 - 3i\pi(3 - 4s_w^2) - 3(4s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_3^2}\right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_3^2} \left[3 - s_w^2 + 3i\pi(3 - 2s_w^2) - 3(3 - 2s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_3^2}\right) \right]. \end{split}$$
(4.13d)

Finally, we again have the contributions from LQ mixing

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{fi} \approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-v^2 N_c}{64\pi^2 \tilde{m}_2^4} \left[\left(\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} + \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^2 \right) |A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2 \mathcal{H}_3 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \left(5\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3 + \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^2 \right) |A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2 \mathcal{H}_3 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right. \\ \left. - \left(\lambda_{jf}^{1L} \lambda_{ji}^{3*} A_{\tilde{2}1} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* + \lambda_{jf}^3 \lambda_{ji}^{1L*} A_{\tilde{2}3} A_{\tilde{2}1}^* \right) \mathcal{H}_4 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right].$$

$$(4.14)$$

In case of zero momentum transfer, i.e. $q^2 = 0$, the form factors correspond to effective $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ couplings. We define them for later purposes in an effective Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{Z\ell\ell} = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \left[\bar{\ell}_f \left(\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(0) \gamma^\mu P_L + \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(0) \gamma^\mu P_R \right) \ell_i \right] Z_\mu , \qquad (4.15a)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{Z\nu\nu} = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \Theta_{\nu_f \nu_i}(0) \left[\bar{\nu}_f \gamma_\mu P_L \nu_i \right] Z^\mu \,, \tag{4.15b}$$

where only the $\tilde{\Delta}$, $\tilde{\Theta}$ and the top contributions remain.

4.3 $W\ell\nu$

We define the amplitude of this process, also considered for generic new scalars and fermions in ref. [140], as follows

$$\mathcal{A}(W^{-} \to \ell_{f}^{-} \bar{\nu}_{i}) = \frac{g_{2}}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda_{\ell_{f} \nu_{i}}^{W}(q^{2}) \bar{u}(p_{\ell_{f}}, m_{\ell_{f}}) \notin(q) P_{L} v(p_{\nu_{i}}), \qquad (4.16)$$

with

$$\Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(q^2) = \Lambda^W_{\rm SM}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \sum_{\Phi} \Lambda^{\Phi}_{fi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Lambda}_{fi} . \qquad (4.17)$$

The diagrams are shown in figure 5. The form factors $\Lambda_{fi}^{\Phi}(q^2)$ again contain the parts with no LQ mixing, grouped by representation with $\Phi = \{\Phi_1, \tilde{\Phi}_1, \Phi_2, \tilde{\Phi}_2, \Phi_3\}$, while $\tilde{\Lambda}_{fi}$ contains the part with LQ mixing. In the SM we have at tree-level

$$\Lambda_{\rm SM}^W = 1. \tag{4.18}$$



Figure 5. Vertex diagrams contributing to $W^- \to \ell_f^- \bar{\nu}_i$. In the case of massless down-type quarks the diagram on the left-hand side is only present with charge-conjugated quarks, since the W boson couples to purely to left-handed quarks.

The single LQ contributions read

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{\Phi_1}(q^2) \approx \frac{N_c V_{3k} \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} V_{3j}^* \lambda_{ji}^{1L}}{64\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2} \left(1 + 2\log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right) \right) - \frac{4q^2}{3m_1^2} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2}\right) \right) + \frac{q^2}{2m_1^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \right] - \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{N_c V_{jl} \lambda_{lf}^{1L*} V_{jk}^* \lambda_{ki}^{1L}}{144\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \left[3\log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_t^2}\right) + 3i\pi - 1 \right], \qquad (4.19a)$$

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) \approx \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{N_c q^2}{288\pi^2} \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL}}{m_2^2} , \qquad (4.19b)$$

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{\tilde{\Phi}_2}(q^2) \approx \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \, q^2}{288\pi^2} \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \,, \tag{4.19c}$$

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{fi}^{\Phi_3}(q^2) &\approx \frac{-N_c V_{3k} \lambda_{kf}^{3*} V_{3j} \lambda_{ji}^3}{64\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{m_3^2} \left(1 + 2\log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_3^2}\right) \right) - \frac{4q^2}{9m_3^2} \left(4 + 3\log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_3^2}\right) \right) + \frac{q^2}{2m_3^2} \frac{q^2}{m_t^2} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c}{144\pi^2} V_{jl} \lambda_{lf}^{3*} V_{jk}^* \lambda_{ki}^3 \frac{q^2}{m_3^2} \left(3\log\left(\frac{q^2}{m_3^2}\right) + 3i\pi + 1 \right) \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c}{144\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{m_3^2} \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3 \,. \end{split}$$
(4.19d)

Additionally, we have the $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2)$ effects from LQ mixing

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Lambda}_{fi} &\approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{v^2 N_c}{64\pi^2} \Bigg[\left(\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^2 - 4\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^3 \right) \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{H}_3 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) - \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^2 \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{H}_3 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{\lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{jf}^{3*} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* A_{\tilde{2}1}^* + \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^3 A_{\tilde{2}3} A_{\tilde{2}1}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{H}_4 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{Y_{13} \lambda_{ji}^{1L*} \lambda_{jf}^3 - Y_{13}^* \lambda_{ji}^{3*} \lambda_{jf}^{1L}}{m_3^2} \mathcal{H}_5 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{m_3^2} \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{\lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{jf}^{3*} A_{\tilde{2}3}^* A_{\tilde{2}1} - \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^3 A_{\tilde{2}3} A_{\tilde{2}1}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{H}_6 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \Bigg], \end{split}$$
(4.20)

with the loop functions given in the appendix A.2. Note that the terms in the last two lines in eq. (4.20) are anti-hermitian in flavor space. Therefore, like the anti-hermitian part



Figure 6. Vertex diagrams generating $h \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ at the 1-loop level.

of the self-energy contributions, see eq. (3.12), they are not physical. In fact, we checked that the terms originating from LQ mixing for $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ respect the structure required by the dim-6 operators with manifest $SU(2)_L$ invariance if the anti-hermitian terms are absorbed by the PMNS matrix.

At the level of effective couplings, we have to evaluate the contributions at $q^2 = 0$, which can be treated in the context of an effective Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int}^{W\ell\nu} = \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(0) \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma^\mu P_L \nu_i \right] W^-_\mu \,. \tag{4.21}$$

The effective coupling $\Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(0)$ then only receives LQ effects from loop-induced top quarks and from LQ mixing.

4.4 $h\ell\ell$

Let us turn next to the Higgs decays $h \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$. We define the amplitude analogously to the leptonic W and Z decays as

$$\mathcal{A}(h \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+) = -\frac{m_{fi}}{\sqrt{2}v} \bar{u}(p_f, m_{\ell_f}) \Big(\Upsilon_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(q^2) P_L + \Upsilon_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(q^2) P_R \Big) v(p_i, m_{\ell_i}) , \qquad (4.22)$$

with

$$\Upsilon^{L}_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}(q^{2}) = \delta_{fi} + \sum_{\Phi} \Upsilon^{\Phi}_{L,fi}(q^{2}) + \tilde{\Upsilon}_{L,fi}, \qquad (4.23a)$$

$$\Upsilon^R_{\ell_f \ell_i}(q^2) = \delta_{fi} + \sum_{\Phi} \Upsilon^{\Phi}_{R,fi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Upsilon}_{R,fi}.$$
(4.23b)

The sum over Φ refers to the LQ representations $\Phi = \{\Phi_1, \tilde{\Phi}_1, \Phi_2, \tilde{\Phi}_2, \Phi_3\}, \tilde{\Upsilon}_{L(R),fi}$ contain the terms which are only generated by LQ mixing and

$$m_{fi} = \max[m_{\ell_f}, m_{\ell_i}], \qquad q^2 = (p_f + p_i)^2.$$
 (4.24)

Note that due to hermicity

$$\Upsilon^R_{\ell_f \ell_i} = \Upsilon^{L*}_{\ell_i \ell_f} \,. \tag{4.25}$$

If $f \neq i$ we can safely neglect the lighter lepton mass. The corresponding Feynman diagrams are shown in figure 6.

We expand again in v^2/m_{LQ}^2 and set the lepton masses to zero. In the phenomenologically most relevant case of an internal top quark, we additionally use the fact that for Higgs decays $m_t^2 > m_h^2 \equiv q^2$, finding

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{\Phi_1}(q^2) \approx \frac{N_c \lambda_{3f}^{1R*} V_{3k}^* \lambda_{ki}^{1L}}{64\pi^2 m_1^2} \frac{m_t}{m_{fi}} \left(m_t^2 \mathcal{J}_t \left(\frac{q^2}{m_t^2}, \frac{m_t^2}{m_1^2} \right) + 8v^2 Y_1 \right) , \qquad (4.26a)$$

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{\Phi_2}(q^2) \approx \frac{N_c V_{3k}^* \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{3i}^{2RL}}{64\pi^2 m_2^2} \frac{m_t}{m_{fi}} \left(m_t^2 \mathcal{J}_t \left(\frac{q^2}{m_t^2}, \frac{m_t^2}{m_2^2} \right) + 8v^2 (Y_{22} + Y_2) \right) .$$
(4.26b)

The mixing-induced terms read up to $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2)$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Upsilon}_{L,fi} &\approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-v^2 N_c}{8\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t}{m_{fi}} \left(\lambda_{3f}^{1R*} V_{3k}^* \lambda_{ki}^{1L} \frac{|A_{\tilde{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{J}_1 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right. \\ \left. \left. - \lambda_{3f}^{1R*} V_{3k}^* \lambda_{ki}^3 \left(\frac{Y_{13}}{m_1^2} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{m_1^2} \right) + \frac{A_{\tilde{2}3} A_{\tilde{2}1}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{J}_2 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(4.27)$$

The loop functions that we used in this section can be found in the appendix A.2. In appendix A.5 we additionally present the generic results for light quarks, i.e. for the case where $m_{q_j}^2 \ll q^2 \equiv m_h^2$.

4.5 4ℓ

To describe processes involving four charged leptons, we define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{4\ell} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{\ell\ell\gamma} + \sum_{f,i,a,b} \left(C_{fiab}^{V\,LL} O_{fiab}^{V\,LL} + C_{fiab}^{V\,LR} O_{fiab}^{V\,LR} + C_{fiab}^{S\,LL} O_{fiab}^{S\,LL} + L \leftrightarrow R \right), \tag{4.28}$$

with the effective operators

$$O_{fiab}^{V\,LL} = \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma^{\mu} P_L \ell_i\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_a \gamma_{\mu} P_L \ell_b\right],$$

$$O_{fiab}^{V\,LR} = \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma^{\mu} P_L \ell_i\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_a \gamma_{\mu} P_R \ell_b\right],$$

$$O_{fiab}^{S\,LL} = \left[\bar{\ell}_f P_L \ell_i\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_a P_L \ell_b\right].$$
(4.29)

Note that we sum over all flavor indices. Therefore, all other operators can be reduced to the ones in (4.28), using Fierz identities. As an advantage, we do not need to distinguish between decays involving the same or different flavors.

There are two types of diagrams which give a contribution to these operators: penguins and boxes, see figure 7. Starting with the photon penguin, we have

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LL} = -\pi \alpha \left(\Xi_{fi}^L \Xi_{ab}^L + \Xi_{fb}^L \Xi_{ai}^L \right),$$

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LR} = -2\pi \alpha \Xi_{fi}^L \Xi_{ab}^R,$$
(4.30)

with

$$\Xi_{fi}^{L(R)} = \delta_{fi} + \widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L(R)} \,. \tag{4.31}$$



Figure 7. Feynman diagrams giving rise to $\ell_f \ell_i \ell_a \ell_b$ amplitudes. Left and center: penguin diagrams with off-shell Z boson or photon exchange. Right: box diagram involving two LQs.

The Z boson gives an analogous contribution

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LL} = \sqrt{2}G_F \left(\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(0) \Lambda_{\ell_a \ell_b}^L(0) + \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_b}^L(0) \Lambda_{\ell_a \ell_i}^L(0) \right),$$

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LR} = \frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(0) \Lambda_{\ell_a \ell_b}^R(0).$$
(4.32)

The coefficients $C_{fiab}^{V\,RL}$ and $C_{fiab}^{V\,RR}$ are obtained in a straightforward way by simply exchanging $L \leftrightarrow R$.

The box diagrams generate the following contributions

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LL} = \frac{N_c}{256\pi^2} \left[\frac{\lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{kb}^{1L} (\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ka}^{1L*} + \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ja}^{1L})}{m_1^2} + 5 \frac{\lambda_{ji}^3 \lambda_{kb}^3 (\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ka}^{3*} + \lambda_{kf}^{3*} \lambda_{ja}^{3*})}{m_3^3} + \frac{\lambda_{ji}^3 \lambda_{kb}^{1L} (\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ka}^{3*} + \lambda_{kf}^{3*} \lambda_{ja}^{1L*}) + \lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{kb}^3 (\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ka}^{1L*} + \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ja}^{3*})}{m_3^2} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{m_3^2} \right) \\ + \frac{\lambda_{ji}^{2RL} \lambda_{kb}^{2RL} (\lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ka}^{2RL*} + \lambda_{kf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ja}^{2RL*})}{m_2^2} + \frac{\lambda_{ji}^2 \lambda_{kb}^2 (\lambda_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ka}^{2*} + \tilde{\lambda}_{kf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ja}^{2*})}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right], \quad (4.33a)$$

$$C_{fiab}^{V\,LR} = \frac{N_c}{128\pi^2} \left[\frac{\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{ka}^{1R*} \lambda_{kb}^{1R}}{m_1^2} + \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ka}^{2LR*} \lambda_{kb}^{2LR}}{m_2^2} \right], \tag{4.33b}$$

$$C_{fiab}^{VRR} = \frac{N_c}{256\pi^2} \left[\frac{\lambda_{ji}^{1R} \lambda_{kb}^{1R} (\lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ka}^{1R*} + \lambda_{kf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ja}^{1R*})}{m_1^2} + 2 \frac{\lambda_{ji}^{2LR} \lambda_{kb}^{2LR} (\lambda_{jf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ka}^{2LR*} + \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ja}^{2LR*})}{m_2^2} + \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^1 \tilde{\lambda}_{kb}^1 (\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ka}^{1*} + \tilde{\lambda}_{kf}^{1*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ja}^{1*})}{\tilde{m}_1^2} \right], \quad (4.33c)$$

where the loop function \mathcal{H}_1 is again given in appendix A.2. The indices j and k run from 1 to 3. Note that we only consider the leading effects in v/m. In scenarios where the λ -couplings are smaller than the gauge couplings ($e \approx 0.3$ and $g_2 \approx 0.6$), the box contributions are typically less important than the gauge boson penguins.

4.6 $2\ell 2\nu$

For these fields we use the effective Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{2\ell 2\nu} = D_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,ab} O_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,ab} + D_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{R,ab} O_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{R,ab}$$
(4.34)

with

$$O_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R),ab} = \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_\mu P_{L(R)} \ell_i\right] \left[\bar{\nu}_a \gamma^\mu P_L \nu_b\right].$$

$$(4.35)$$

There are three types of contributions: Z penguins, W penguins and boxes. The Z boson yields

$$D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,ab} = \frac{8G_{F}}{\sqrt{2}}\Lambda_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L}(0)\Theta_{\nu_{a}\nu_{b}}(0), \qquad D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R,ab} = \frac{8G_{F}}{\sqrt{2}}\Lambda_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R}(0)\Theta_{\nu_{a}\nu_{b}}(0), \qquad (4.36)$$

while we have for the W boson

$$D_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,ab} = \frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda_{\ell_i \nu_a}^{W*}(0) \Lambda_{\ell_f \nu_b}^W(0) \,. \tag{4.37}$$

The box diagrams yield

$$D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,ab} = \frac{N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{ka}^{1L*} \lambda_{kb}^{1L}}{m_{1}^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{3} \lambda_{ka}^{3*} \lambda_{kb}^{3}}{m_{3}^{2}} - \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} \lambda_{ka}^{1L*} \lambda_{kb}^{3} + \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{3} \lambda_{ka}^{3*} \lambda_{kb}^{1L}}{m_{3}^{2}} \mathcal{H}_{1} \left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}} \right) \right],$$
(4.38a)

$$D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R,ab} = \frac{N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{\lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ji}^{1R} \lambda_{ka}^{1L*} \lambda_{kb}^{1L}}{m_{1}^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ji}^{2LR} \lambda_{ka}^{2RL*} \lambda_{kb}^{2RL}}{m_{2}^{2}} \right].$$
(4.38b)

Again the indices j and k run from 1 to 3 and we only considered the leading order LQ effects in v/m_{LQ} .

5 Phenomenology

Let us now study the phenomenology of scalar LQs in leptonic processes. Due to the large number of observables and the many free parameters, we will choose some exemplary processes of special interest and use simplifying assumptions for the couplings in order to show the effects and the possible correlations between observables. In particular, we will consider:

- EW gauge-boson couplings to leptons: the effects of scalar LQs in (effective) off-shell $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings and the associated gauge-boson decays.
- Muonic observables: correlations between the AMM of the muon, $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$, effective $W \mu \nu$ couplings and $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$.
- Charged lepton flavor violation: correlations between $\tau \to \mu\gamma$, $Z \to \tau\mu$ and $\tau \to 3\mu$ as well as the analogues in $\mu \to e$ transitions.

5.1 Electroweak gauge-boson couplings to leptons: $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$

We start our phenomenological analysis by considering the effects of scalar LQs in $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ effective couplings (at $q^2 = 0$) and the associated gauge boson decays (at $q^2 = m_Z^2, m_W^2$), calculated in section 4.2. While among $Z \to \ell^+\ell^-$ decays NP effects

are strongly bounded by LEP [148] measurements, the effective $W\ell\nu$ couplings are best constrained by low-energy observables, testing LFU of the charged current (see ref. [149] for an overview).

We first focus on the LQ representations which generate an m_t^2/m_{LQ}^2 effect in EW gauge-boson couplings to leptons, i.e. Φ_1 , Φ_2 and Φ_3 . In the absence of LQ mixing, we can expect this effect to be dominant and couplings to third generation quarks are well motivated by the flavor anomalies. Note that we nonetheless included the $q^2 = \{m_Z^2, m_W^2\}$ terms which, due to $SU(2)_L$ invariance, can also arise from bottom loops for some of the representations shown in figure 8. In order to keep the number of free parameters small, we did not include mixing among the LQs and assumed that only couplings to one lepton flavor $\ell = e, \mu, \tau$ at a time exist. This avoids limits from charged lepton flavor violating observables, which we consider later in this article. Furthermore, we normalized the LQ effect to the respective SM coupling and the LQ-quark-lepton coupling to one (i.e. $\lambda_{3\ell} = 1$) while all other couplings are zero. Note that the effect in figure 8, given for couplings of unit strength, are consistent with $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$ bounds for masses around 1.5 TeV or more. Furthermore, $Z \to \nu \bar{\nu}$ is constrained by the number of neutrino families

$$N_{\nu} = \sum_{f,i} \left| \delta_{fi} + \frac{\sum_{\Phi} \Theta_{fi}^{\Phi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Theta}_{fi}}{\Theta_{\rm SM}(m_Z^2)} \right|^2, \tag{5.1}$$

where the experimental value lies at [148]

$$N_{\nu} = 2.9840 \pm 0.0082 \,, \tag{5.2}$$

while the LQ effect is predicted to be constructive. Future colliders are expected to reach a 20 times better precision [150].

Let us now turn to the case of non-vanishing LQ couplings to the SM Higgs. We study as an example the scalar doublet $\tilde{\Phi}_2$ which couples only down-type quarks to leptons such that the v^2/\tilde{m}_2^2 effects from the mixing with Φ_1 (generated by $A_{\tilde{2}1}$) and/or Φ_3 (generated by $A_{\tilde{2}3}$) are expected to be dominant compared to the m_Z^2/\tilde{m}_2^2 effects. In figure 9 we present the impact of LQs on on-shell Z and W couplings. Again, we set $\tilde{\lambda}_{3\ell}^2 = 1$ and we assume $\tilde{m}_2 = m_1 = m_3 = 1$ TeV, which is compatible with current LHC limits [151–153]. Note that a non-zero $A_{\tilde{2}1}$ yields a destructive effect in $Z\ell\ell$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings while the terms with $A_{\tilde{2}3}$ are constructive.

5.2 Correlating the AMM of the muon with $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$ and $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$

In this sub-section, we focus on possible LQ explanations of the long-standing anomaly in the AMM of the muon. The discrepancy between its measurement [21] and the SM prediction $[35]^4$ amounts to

$$\delta a_{\mu} = (279 \pm 76) \times 10^{-11} \,, \tag{5.3}$$

⁴This result is based on refs. [154–173]. The recent lattice result of the Budapest-Marseille-Wuppertal collaboration (BMWc) for the hadronic vacuum polarization (HVP) [174] on the other hand is not included. This result would render the SM prediction of a_{μ} compatible with experiment. However, the BMWc results are in tension with the HVP determined from $e^+e^- \rightarrow$ hadrons data [158–163]. Furthermore, the HVP also enters the global EW fit [175], whose (indirect) determination is below the BMWc result [176]. Therefore, the BMWc determination of the HVP would increase the tension in EW fits [177, 178] and we opted for using the community consensus of ref. [35].



Figure 8. LQ effects in $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings for the scalar LQ representations which give rise to m_t^2 effects (Φ_1 , Φ_2 and Φ_3) as a function of the LQ mass. We neglected LQ mixing and considered only the couplings of third generation quarks to a single lepton flavor with unit strength, i.e. $\lambda_{3\ell} = 1$. Here, $\Delta_{L,R}$, Θ and Λ stand for the corrections in $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings, respectively (see section 4.2). The solid (dashed) lines refer to the couplings entering on-shell decays (effective couplings at $q^2 = 0$). The green region is excluded by LEP data [148] from $Z \to \nu\bar{\nu}$ decays. The blue region is excluded by $Z \to \tau^+\tau^-$ which is more constraining than $Z \to \mu^+\mu^-$ (not shown explicitly). Note that we also do not show $Z \to e^+e^-$ exclusions here for the sake of clarity since couplings to electrons are usually much smaller in setups motivated by the *B* anomalies, leading to suppressed effects.



Figure 9. Modified $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings in the $A_{\tilde{2}1}$ - $A_{\tilde{2}3}$ plane (in units of GeV) for $\tilde{m}_2 = m_1 = m_3 = 1$ TeV and $|\tilde{\lambda}_{3\ell}^2| = 1$.

corresponding to a 3.7σ tension. Note that this tension is quite large, i.e. of the order of the EW contribution of the SM. Since LQs are colored, the LHC bounds rule out masses significantly below 1 TeV such that an enhancement in a_{μ} is needed to compensate for the mass suppression. In fact, there are LQ representations that are able to generate m_t/m_{μ} enhanced contributions, see eq. (4.3). These NP effects enter the AMM of the muon as

$$a_{\mu} = \frac{m_{\mu}}{4\pi^2} \operatorname{Re}[C^R_{\mu\mu}], \qquad (5.4)$$

with the Wilson coefficient defined in eq. (4.1).

First of all, we can expect a direct correlation with $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ [179] since both processes are chirality changing and therefore involve the same couplings of LQs to fermions.⁵ We can express the NP effect in terms of Υ_L^{Φ} and $\tilde{\Upsilon}_L$, defined in (4.22), as

$$\frac{\operatorname{Br}[h \to \mu^+ \mu^-]}{\operatorname{Br}[h \to \mu^+ \mu^-]_{\mathrm{SM}}} = \left| 1 + \sum_{\Phi} \Upsilon^{\Phi}_{L,\mu\mu} + \tilde{\Upsilon}_{L,\mu\mu} \right|^2.$$
(5.5)

The resulting correlations are shown in figure 10 for Φ_1 and Φ_2 . Note that even though the current CMS and ATLAS measurements [181, 182] are not able to constrain these models yet, a FCC-hh [183] can test them.

The LQ interactions with top quarks and muons also generate effects in $Z\mu\mu$ couplings. Therefore, let us as a next step consider the correlations of a_{μ} with $Z \to \ell^{+}\ell^{-}$ where we refine the analysis of ref. [107] by including the indirect effect, originating from the finite renormalization of the very precisely measured Fermi constant [184]

$$G_F = 1.166\,378\,7(6) \times 10^{-5}\,\text{GeV}^{-2}\,,$$
(5.6)

⁵Similar results for $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ were obtained in refs. [138, 139, 180].



Figure 10. Correlations between $\operatorname{Br}[h \to \mu^+ \mu^-]$, normalized to its SM value, and the NP contribution to the AMM of the muon (δa_{μ}) for scenario Φ_1 (left) and Φ_2 (right) with $m_{1,2} = 1.5$ TeV. The predictions for different values of the LQ couplings to the Higgs are shown, where for Φ_1 $Y = Y_1$ while for $\Phi_2 Y = Y_2 + Y_{22}$. Even though the current ATLAS and CMS results are not yet constraining this model, sizeable effects are predicted, which can be tested at future colliders. Furthermore, Φ_1 yields a constructive effect in $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ while the one of Φ_2 is destructive such that they can be clearly distinguished with increasing experimental precision.

which can be expressed in terms of the SM parameters

$$G_F = \frac{\sqrt{2}g_2^2}{8m_W^2}.$$
 (5.7)

Since m_W itself is measured in W decays, g_2 can be determined once G_F is measured via the muon lifetime. However, also NP contributions enter such that

$$G_F \to G_F (1 + \Lambda^{W*}_{\mu\nu\mu}(0)) (1 + \Lambda^W_{e\nu_e}(0)),$$
 (5.8)

resulting in a redefinition of g_2 .

The SU(2)_L singlet Φ_1 with non-zero real couplings λ_{32}^{1L} and λ_{32}^{1R} affects $Z\mu\mu$ as well as $W\mu\nu_{\mu}$, while the effect on $Z\nu\nu$ is very small, see figure 11. The modified W coupling by λ_{32}^{1L} then yields a finite, LFU renormalization of g_2 . This has been included in our analysis depicted in figure 11, leading to the allowed, green region deviating slightly from a circled shape.

The SU(2)_L doublet Φ_2 with non-zero couplings λ_{32}^{2LR} and λ_{32}^{2RL} only yields a negligible contribution to $W\mu\nu_{\mu}$. However, there is an m_t effect in $Z \to \nu\bar{\nu}$, affecting N_{ν} , which has been precisely measured, see eq. (5.2). This then constrains λ_{32}^{2RL} as we show in the plot in the right-hand side of figure 11. We additionally show in figure 11 the expected sensitivities of future experiments for $Z\mu\mu$, which are summarized in table 2.

5.3 Charged lepton flavor violation

Let us now correlate different charged lepton flavor violating observables, i.e. $\ell \to \ell' \gamma$, $Z \to \ell \ell'$ and $\ell \to 3\ell'$. We do not study $\mu \to e$ conversion in nuclei, which could be



Figure 11. Allowed parameter space by LEP [148] (light green) for the couplings to left- and right-handed muons. In addition, we give the expected sensitivities of future collider experiments, see table 2. The finite renormalization of g_2 , induced by the effect in the Fermi constant, yields a LFU effect which is depicted by the blue lines in the plot on the left.

l	$g_A^\ell/g_{A\mathrm{SM}}$ LEP [148]	FCC-ee [185]	ILC [186]	CEPC [187]	CLIC [188]
e	0.999681 ± 0.000698227	$\pm 4.1 \times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 4.1 \times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 8.7 \times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 4.4 \times 10^{-5}$
μ	0.99986 ± 0.00107726	$\pm 6.3 \times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 6.3 \times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 1.3 \times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 6.7 \times 10^{-5}$
τ	1.00154 ± 0.00127676	$\pm 7.5\times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 7.5\times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 1.6 \times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 8.0 \times 10^{-5}$
LFU	0.99992 ± 0.000518683	$\pm 3.1\times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 3.0\times 10^{-5}$	$\pm 6.5 \times 10^{-6}$	$\pm 3.2\times 10^{-5}$

Table 2. Experimental values for $Z\ell\ell$ couplings, extracted from LEP [148] data and normalized to their SM values with $g_A^{\ell} = \Lambda_{\ell\ell}^L(m_Z^2) - \Lambda_{\ell\ell}^R(m_Z^2)$. We further show various expected sensitivities for future colliders (second to fifth row) under the assumption that the measurements of g_A are improved by the same factor as s_w^2 .

dominant in case of couplings to first generation quarks, but rather again assume only couplings to third generation quarks.

The branching ratios for lepton flavor violating radiative lepton decays, as a function of the (effective) Wilson coefficients in eq. (4.1), are given by

$$Br\left[\ell_{i} \to \ell_{f}\gamma\right] = \frac{\alpha m_{\ell_{i}}^{3}}{256\pi^{4}} \tau_{\ell_{i}} \left(\left|C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L}\right|^{2} + \left|C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R}\right|^{2}\right),\tag{5.9}$$

with τ_{ℓ_i} as the life time of the decaying lepton. Similarly, the branching ratio for $Z \to \ell^+ \ell'^-$ is given by

$$Br[Z \to \ell_i^+ \ell_f^-] = \frac{G_F m_Z^3}{3\sqrt{2}\pi \Gamma_Z^{\text{tot}}} \left(\left| \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(m_Z^2) \right|^2 + \left| \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(m_Z^2) \right|^2 \right) \,, \tag{5.10}$$

with $\Gamma_Z^{\text{tot}} = 2.495 \,\text{GeV}$ [189] being the total Z boson decay width and the $\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L,R}(q^2)$ are defined in (4.8a).

$\operatorname{Br}\left[Z \to \ell \ell'\right]$	Ref.	${\rm Br}\left[\ell\to\ell'\gamma\right]$	Ref.	${\rm Br}\left[\ell ightarrow 3\ell ight]$	Ref.
$Z \to e^{\pm} \mu^{\mp} < 7.5 \times 10^{-7}$	[190]	$\mu \to e \gamma < 4.2 \times 10^{-13}$	[191]	$\mu \rightarrow 3e < 1.0 \times 10^{-12}$	[192]
$Z \to e^{\pm} \tau^{\mp} < 9.8 \times 10^{-6}$	[193]	$\tau \to e \gamma < 3.3 \times 10^{-8}$	[194]	$\tau \to \mu ee < 1.5 \times 10^{-8}$	[195]
$Z \to \mu^{\pm} \tau^{\mp} < 1.2 \times 10^{-5}$	[196]	$\tau \to \mu \gamma < 4.4 \times 10^{-8}$	[194]	$\tau \to 3 \mu < 2.1 \times 10^{-8}$	[195]
$Z \to \mu^{\pm} \tau^{\mp} < 1.0 \times 10^{-8}$	[186]	$\mu \to e \gamma < 6.0 \times 10^{-14}$	[197]	$\mu \rightarrow 3e < 5.5 \times 10^{-15}$	[198]
$Z \to \mu^{\pm} \tau^{\mp} < 1.0 \times 10^{-9}$	[185]	$\tau \to \mu \gamma < 1.0 \times 10^{-9}$	[199]	$\tau \to 3 \mu < 1.0 \times 10^{-9}$	[123]
				$\tau \to 3 \mu < 3.3 \times 10^{-10}$	[199]

Table 3. Current experimental limits (top panel) and projected future experimental sensitivities (bottom panel) on lepton flavor violating decays of charged leptons.

For the three body decays we have

$$Br\left[\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} \mu^{+} \mu^{-}\right] = \frac{m_{\tau}^{3}}{768\pi^{3}} \tau_{\tau} \left[\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\pi^{2}} |C_{\mu\tau}^{L}|^{2} \left(\log\left(\frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{m_{\mu}^{2}}\right) - \frac{11}{4} \right) + \frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{4} \left(|C_{\mu\mu\mu\mu\tau}^{SLL}|^{2} + 16 |C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VLL}|^{2} + 4 |C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VLR}|^{2} + 4 |C_{\mu\mu\mu\mu\tau}^{VLR}|^{2} \right) - \frac{2\alpha}{\pi} m_{\tau} \operatorname{Re} \left[C_{\mu\tau}^{L*} (C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VRL} + 2C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VRR}) \right] + L \leftrightarrow R \right],$$
(5.11)

with the Wilson coefficients defined in eq. (4.28). The analogous expression for $\mu \to 3e$ can be obtained by obvious replacements. These rates have to be compared to the experimental limits given in table 3 where we also quote the expected future sensitivities. We do not consider decays like $\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} e^{\pm} e^{\mp}$ as the experimental constraints are slightly worse.

In our numerical analysis, we again assume that the LQs only couple to third generation quarks but now allow for the possibility that they couple to more than one lepton flavor at the same time. Let us start by examining the correlations between $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ and $Z \to \tau \mu$ in figure 12. One can see that this correlation is very direct under the assumption that only one representation contributes and that for Φ_1 and Φ_2 only either the left- or the righthanded couplings to leptons are non-zero at the same time such that chirality enhanced effects in $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ are absent. Although currently $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ is more constraining, even in the absence of chirality enhanced contributions, in the future $Z \to \tau \mu$ can provide competitive or even superior bounds. The situation for $\tau \to e$ transitions is very similar and therefore not shown explicitly.

In figure 13 we show the correlations between $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ and $\tau \to 3\mu$. These correlations are not as clear as in the case of $Z \to \tau\mu$ due to the additional box contributions to $\tau \to 3\mu$. Therefore, one obtains a cone instead of a straight line. Interestingly, for Φ_1 the effect in $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ is smallest among the LQ representations due to the electric charge of the LQ. Hence, even though phase space suppressed, $\tau \to 3\mu$ is more sensitive to this particular LQ than $\tau \to \mu\gamma$. Again, the situation in $\tau \to e$ transitions is very similar and therefore not shown explicitly. However, we show our analysis for $\mu \to e$ transitions in figure 14. For the $\mu \to e\gamma$ scenario we do not show $Z \to \mu e$ since the low energy bounds are so



Figure 12. Correlations between $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ and $Z \to \tau \mu$ for the three LQ representations which generate an $m_t^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2$ effect in $Z\ell\ell$ couplings. We assume that Φ_1 and Φ_2 couple either to left or to right-handed leptons only such that chirally enhanced effects (which would result in dominant effects in $\tau \to \mu \gamma$) are absent.

stringent that the former cannot compete, even when taking into account future prospects. The (lower) upper boundary of the cone is obtained for a hierarchic flavor structure, i.e. $\lambda_{33} (\gg) \ll \lambda_{32}$ for $\tau \to \mu$ and $\lambda_{32} (\gg) \ll \lambda_{31}$ for $\mu \to e$ transitions, respectively, such that the box contributions are (sub) dominant. The opening angle of the cone is determined by the size of the box contributions to $\ell \to 3\ell$. For example, the LQ triplet yields the biggest box contribution, which can easily be seen from eq. (4.33).

6 Conclusions

Leptoquarks are prime candidates to explain the flavor anomalies, i.e. the discrepancies between measurements and the SM predictions in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$, $b \to c\tau\nu$ and the AMM of the muon. With this motivation in mind, we calculated the one-loop amplitudes generated by scalar LQs for the purely leptonic transitions, involving:

- $\ell\ell\gamma$
- $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$
- Wℓν
- $h\ell\ell$
- 4*l*
- $2\ell 2\nu$



Figure 13. The correlations between $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ and $\tau \to 3\mu$ for a LQ mass of 1.5 TeV where we scanned λ_{33} and λ_{32} in the range [-1.5, 1.5]. The gray regions are currently excluded by experiment. The dashed (solid) lines show the projected sensitivities for the HL-LHC (Belle II), see table 3 for the numerical values.



Figure 14. The analogue to the plots above for the $\mu \to e$ transition. The dashed lines depict the expected sensitivity from MEG II [197] and the solid line the one of Mu3e [198]. Note that the color scaling shows the product of two couplings, as can be seen from the legend in the bottom-right.

Taking into account the most general set of interactions of the LQs with the SM Higgs doublet, we obtained relatively simple analytic expressions for the amplitudes by expanding the LQ mixing matrices in $v/m_{\rm LQ}$, corresponding to a mass insertion approximation.

In our phenomenological analysis, we illustrated the results of our calculation by studying:

- LQ effects in effective $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$ and $W\ell\nu$ couplings and the associated gauge boson decays. Here we found for the three representations which generate m_t^2/m_{LQ}^2 enhanced effects (Φ_1 , Φ_2 and Φ_2) that $Z \to \ell^+\ell^-$ is smaller than within the SM while $Z \to \nu\nu$ is enhanced. For order one couplings, the effect is at the percent level for TeV scale LQs.
- Correlations between the AMM of the muon, $Z \to \ell^+ \ell^-$, effective $W\mu\nu$ couplings and $h \to \mu^+\mu^-$. Here we found that, since an explanation of the $(g-2)_{\mu}$ anomaly requires a m_t/m_{μ} enhanced effect, also the contribution in $h \to \mu^+\mu^-$ is pronounced by the same factor. Furthermore, effects scaling like m_t^2/m_{LQ}^2 in $Z \to \mu^+\mu^-$ are generated which are most relevant in case where the left-handed couplings are much larger than the right handed ones and vice versa.
- Correlations between τ → μγ, Z → τμ and τ → 3μ, as well as the analogues in μ → e transitions. Here we observed that τ → μγ and Z → τμ can be directly correlated under the assumption the LQs couple only to left-handed or to right-handed leptons (but not to both of the same time). Furthermore, in this setup τ → μγ and μ → eγ do not receive chirally enhanced effects such that τ → 3μ and μ → 3e can give competitive bounds, which is in particular the case for Φ₁.

These interesting correlations can be tested at future precision experiments and high-energy colliders.

Acknowledgments

We thank David Marzocca, Martin Hoferichter, Ulrich Nierste, Adrian Signer and Michael Spira for useful discussions. The work of A.C. and D.M. is supported by a Professorship Grant (PP00P2_176884) of the Swiss National Science Foundation and the one of C.G. and F.S. by the Swiss National Science Foundation grant 200020_175449/1.

A Loop functions and formula with exact diagonalization of the leptoquark mass matrices

A.1 Self-energies

Focusing on the non-decoupling, momentum-independent parts of the self-energies, we have generically

$$\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LR} = \frac{-m_{q_j} N_c}{16\pi^2} \Gamma_{q_j \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{q_j \ell_f}^{R,a} \mathcal{I}_0\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}, \frac{m_{q_j}^2}{M_a^2}\right),\tag{A.1a}$$

$$\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LL} = \frac{-N_c}{32\pi^2} \Gamma_{q_j\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{q_j\ell_i}^{L,a} \mathcal{I}_1\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}, \frac{m_{q_j}^2}{M_a^2}\right),$$
(A.1b)

with $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RR}$ and $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RL}$ obtained by interchanging chiralities and $\Sigma_{fi}^{\nu LL}$ by replacing ℓ with ν . We set all quark masses within the loop equal to zero, except for the top mass. Additionally, one has to sum over all internal quarks u_j, d_j, u_j^c and d_j^c , as well as over their flavors $j = \{1, 2, 3\}$. The loop functions take the simple form

$$\mathcal{I}_0(x,y) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + 1 + \log(x) + y \log(y), \qquad (A.2a)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_1(x,y) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2} + \log(x) - y, \qquad (A.2b)$$

where the last terms in \mathcal{I}_0 and \mathcal{I}_1 are only relevant for the top quark and can be neglected in all other cases.

Now we expand the expressions in eq. (A.1) in terms of $v/m_{\rm LQ}$ up to $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{\rm LQ}^2)$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{\ell,fi}^{LL} &\approx \frac{-N_c}{32\pi^2} \sum_{j=1}^3 \left[V_{jk} \lambda_{kf}^{1L*} V_{jl}^* \lambda_{li}^{1L} \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_1^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 Y_1}{m_1^2} + \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{I}_4 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ V_{jk} \lambda_{kf}^{3*} V_{jl}^* \lambda_{li}^{3} \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_3^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2} \right) + 2\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_3^2}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^2 (3Y_3 - 2Y_{33})}{m_3^2} + \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{I}_4 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ v^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{li}^{1L} Y_{13}^* + \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^3 Y_{13}}{m_3^2} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{m_3^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} A_{\bar{2}1} A_{\bar{2}3}^* + \lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^3 A_{\bar{2}1}^* A_{\bar{2}3}}{m_2^4} \mathcal{I}_5 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, \frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^2 \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^2 (Y_2 + Y_{\bar{2}\bar{2}})}{\tilde{m}_2^2} + \frac{2v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{I}_6 \left(\frac{m_3^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL} \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_2^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 (Y_2 + Y_{22})}{m_2^2} \right) \right], \tag{A.3a}$$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{\ell,fi}^{RR} &\approx \sum_{j=1}^{5} \frac{-N_c}{32\pi^2} \left[\lambda_{jf}^{1R*} \lambda_{ji}^{1R} \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_1^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}}{m_1^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 Y_1}{m_1^2} + \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{I}_4 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \\ &+ V_{jk}^* \lambda_{kf}^{2LR*} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^{2LR} \left(2\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_2^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_2^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 (2Y_2 + Y_{22})}{m_2^2} \right) \\ &+ \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^1 \left(\mathcal{I}_1 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{\tilde{m}_1^2}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^2 Y_{\bar{1}}}{\tilde{m}_1^2} \right) \right], \end{split}$$
(A.3b)
$$\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell RL} &\approx \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{-m_{u_j} N_c}{16\pi^2} \left[\lambda_{jf}^{1R*} V_{jk}^* \lambda_{ki}^{1L} \left(\mathcal{I}_0 \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_1^2}, \frac{m_{u_j}^2}{m_1^2} \right) - \frac{v^2 Y_1}{m_1^2} + \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{\tilde{m}_2^4} \mathcal{I}_4 \left(\frac{m_1^2}{\tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \right) \end{split}$$

$$+v^{2}\lambda_{jf}^{1R*}V_{jk}^{*}\lambda_{ki}^{3}\left(\frac{Y_{13}}{m_{3}^{2}}\mathcal{H}_{1}\left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right)+\frac{A_{\tilde{2}1}^{*}A_{\tilde{2}3}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}}\mathcal{I}_{5}\left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}},\frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right)\right)$$

+
$$V_{jk}^{*}\lambda_{kf}^{2LR*}\lambda_{ji}^{2RL}\left(\mathcal{I}_{1}\left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}},\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}}\right)-\frac{v^{2}(Y_{2}+Y_{22})}{m_{2}^{2}}\right)\right]$$

+
$$\sum_{j=1}^{3}\frac{m_{d_{j}}}{16\pi^{2}}\left[\frac{v^{2}\lambda_{jf}^{2LR*}\tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2}Y_{2\tilde{2}}^{*}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\mathcal{H}_{1}\left(\frac{m_{2}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}\right)-\frac{2v^{2}\tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{1*}\lambda_{ji}^{3}Y_{3\tilde{1}}^{*}}{m_{3}^{2}}\mathcal{H}_{1}\left(\frac{\tilde{m}_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}}\right)\right],$$
 (A.3c)

with $\Sigma_{fi}^{\ell LR} = \Sigma_{if}^{\ell RL*}$ and

$$\mathcal{I}_4(x) = \frac{1 - x + x \log(x)}{x(x-1)^2}$$
(A.4a)

$$\mathcal{I}_{5}(x,y) = \frac{\log(x)}{(x-1)(x-y)} + \frac{\log(y)}{(y-1)(y-x)}$$
(A.4b)

$$\mathcal{I}_6(x) = \frac{x - 1 - \log(x)}{(x - 1)^2} \,. \tag{A.4c}$$

For neutrinos we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{fi}^{\nu LL} &\approx \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_{c}}{32\pi^{2}} \Biggl[\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} \left(\mathcal{I}_{1} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{1}^{2}}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{1}}{m_{1}^{2}} + \frac{v^{2}|A_{\bar{2}1}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{I}_{4} \left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \right) \right) \\ &+ V_{jk} \lambda_{kf}^{3*} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^{3} \left(\mathcal{I}_{1} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{3}^{3}}, \frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}} \right) + \mathcal{I}_{1} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{3}^{3}}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^{2}(3Y_{3} + 2Y_{33})}{m_{3}^{2}} + \frac{5v^{2}|A_{\bar{2}3}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{I}_{4} \left(\frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \right) \right) \\ &- v^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{3}Y_{13} + \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L}Y_{13}^{*}}{m_{3}^{2}} \mathcal{H}_{1} \left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{m_{3}^{2}} \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{jf}^{1L*} \lambda_{ji}^{3}A_{\bar{2}1}^{*} A_{\bar{2}3} + \lambda_{jf}^{3*} \lambda_{ji}^{1L} A_{\bar{2}1} A_{\bar{2}3}^{*}}{m_{2}^{4}} \mathcal{I}_{5} \left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \right) \right) \\ &+ \tilde{\lambda}_{jf}^{2*} \tilde{\lambda}_{ji}^{2} \left(\mathcal{I}_{1} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}}, 0 \right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} + \frac{v^{2}|A_{\bar{2}1}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{4}^{4}} \mathcal{I}_{6} \left(\frac{m_{1}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \right) + \frac{v^{2}|A_{\bar{2}3}|^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{4}^{4}} \mathcal{I}_{6} \left(\frac{m_{3}^{2}}{\tilde{m}_{2}^{2}} \right) \right) \\ &+ \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL} \left(\mathcal{I}_{1} \left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}}, \frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}} \right) - \frac{v^{2}Y_{2}}{m_{2}^{2}} \right) \right]. \tag{A.5}$$

A.2 Loop functions

The loop-functions for $\ell\ell\gamma$ with on-shell photons read

$$\mathcal{E}_1(x) = 7 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.6a}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_2(x) = 11 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.6b}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_3(x) = 1 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.6c}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_4(x) = 5 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.6d}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_5(x,y) = \frac{4}{y}\log(x) + \frac{7y - 11}{y(y - 1)} + 4\frac{2y - 1}{y(y - 1)^2}\log(y)$$
(A.6e)

$$\mathcal{E}_6(x,y) = \mathcal{E}_1(x) + 4\frac{\log(y)}{y-1} \tag{A.6f}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{7}(x, y, z) = -\frac{1}{z}\mathcal{E}_{1}(x) + \frac{4}{y-z} \left(\frac{\log(y)}{y-1} - \frac{x}{z}\frac{\log(z)}{(z-1)}\right)$$
(A.6g)

$$\mathcal{E}_8(x,y) = \frac{5}{y} + \frac{2\log(x)}{y} + \frac{2\log(y)}{y(y-1)}$$
(A.6h)

$$\mathcal{E}_{9}(x,y) = -\frac{2}{y} + \frac{4\log(x)}{y} + \frac{4\log(y)}{y-1}, \qquad (A.6i)$$

see eqs. (4.3) and (4.4).

For off-shell photons, the results are given in eqs. (4.6) and (4.7), we have

$$\mathcal{F}_1(x) = 5 + \log(x) \tag{A.7a}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_2(x) = 9 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.7b}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_3(x,y) = \frac{4}{y}\log(x) + \frac{5y-9}{y(y-1)} + \frac{4(2y-1)\log(y)}{y(y-1)^2}$$
(A.7c)

$$\mathcal{F}_4(x) = 2 + \log(x) \tag{A.7d}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_5(x) = 7 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.7e}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_6(x) = 11 + 4\log(x) \tag{A.7f}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_7(x) = 1 + \log(x) \tag{A.7g}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_8(x) = 3 + \log(x) \tag{A.7h}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_9(x,y) = \frac{2}{y}\log(x) + \frac{2(2y-1)}{y(y-1)} - \frac{2\log(y)}{y(y-1)^2}$$
(A.7i)

$$\mathcal{F}_{10}(x,y) = \frac{4}{y}\log(x) + \frac{5y - 5 + 4\log(y)}{y(y-1)},$$
(A.7j)

$$\mathcal{F}_{11}(y,z) = -\frac{4}{yz}\log(x) - \frac{5}{yz} + \frac{4\log(y)}{y(y-1)(y-z)} - \frac{4\log(z)}{z(z-1)(y-z)}.$$
 (A.7k)

The \mathcal{H} -functions are defined for the Z and W decays in sections 4.2 and 4.3

$$\mathcal{H}_0(x) = x \big(1 + \log(x) \big) \tag{A.8a}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_1(x) = \frac{\log(x)}{x - 1} \tag{A.8b}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_2(x) = \frac{3(x^2 - 1 - 2x\log(x))}{(x - 1)^3} \tag{A.8c}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_3(x) = \frac{2 - 2x + (1+x)\log(x)}{(x-1)^3} \tag{A.8d}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_4(x,y) = \frac{1}{(x-1)(y-1)} + \frac{x\log(x)}{(x-1)^2(x-y)} + \frac{y\log(y)}{(y-1)^2(y-x)}$$
(A.8e)

$$\mathcal{H}_5(x) = \frac{2 - 2x + (x+1)\log(x)}{(x-1)^2}, \qquad (A.8f)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_6(x,y) = \frac{2-x-y}{(x-1)(y-1)(x-y)} + \frac{(2x^2-x-y)\log(x)}{(x-1)^2(x-y)^2} - \frac{(2y^2-x-y)\log(y)}{(y-1)^2(x-y)^2}.$$
 (A.8g)

Finally, we have the loop functions used for Higgs decays in section 4.4

$$\mathcal{J}_t(x,y) = 2(x-4)\log(y) - 8 + \frac{13}{3}x - \frac{x^2y}{5}$$
(A.9a)

$$\mathcal{J}_1(x) = \frac{x - 1 - x \log(x)}{x(x - 1)^2}$$
(A.9b)

$$\mathcal{J}_2(x,y) = \frac{\log(x)}{(x-1)(x-y)} - \frac{y}{x} \frac{\log(y)}{(y-1)(x-y)}$$
(A.9c)

$$\mathcal{J}_3(x) = \frac{x - 1 - x \log(x)}{(x - 1)^2} \,. \tag{A.9d}$$

A.3 Exact result for $\ell\ell\gamma$

If we expand the amplitudes obtained from the diagrams in figure 3 up to first non-vanishing order in the external masses and momenta, we obtain [48, 110]

$$C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L} = \frac{-N_{c}}{4} \sum_{q} \left[\frac{m_{\ell_{f}} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,a} + m_{\ell_{i}} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}^{R,a}}{6M_{a}^{2}} (1 + 3Q_{q}) + \frac{m_{q_{j}} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,a}}{M_{a}^{2}} \left(1 - 2Q_{q} - 2Q_{q} \log\left(\frac{\mu_{\ell}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right) \right) \right],$$
(A.10)

where q can be, depending on the LQ representations, either a (charge-conjugated) up- or down-type quark and Q_q refers to its electric charge, i.e. $Q_q = \{\pm 1/3, \pm 2/3\}$. The quark flavour index j runs from 1 to 3.

Note that we naively integrated out the internal LQs and quarks at the same scale. Therefore, in the case of light internal quarks, i.e. all except the top quark, the contribution contains both the hard matching part, the mixing within the effective theory and the soft contribution. For this reason, care is required if the internal quarks are lighter than the incoming lepton (e.g. the charm contribution to $\tau \to \mu \gamma$) since the RGE only contributes from the LQ scale down to the scale of the process and not to the scale of the internal quark. Therefore, we defined μ_{ℓ} in eq. (A.10) as follows

$$\mu_{\ell} = \begin{cases} m_{q_j} & m_{q_j} > m_{\ell_i} \\ m_{\ell_i} & m_{q_j} \le m_{\ell_i} \end{cases}$$
(A.11)

Next we give the exact results for off-shell photons, whereof the expanded expressions are given in eqs. (4.6) and (4.7). They read

$$\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L} = \sum_{q} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{q_j \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{q_j \ell_i}^{L,a}}{576 \pi^2 M_a^2} \mathcal{F}_{Q_q} \left(\frac{m_{q_j}^2}{M_a^2}\right),$$
(A.12a)

$$\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{R} = \sum_{q} \frac{N_{c} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}^{R,a}}{576\pi^{2} M_{a}^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{Q_{q}}\left(\frac{m_{q_{j}}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right),$$
(A.12b)

with $\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L(R)}$ defined in (4.5) and

$$\mathcal{F}_{Q_q}(y) = 2 + 18Q_q + 12Q_q \log(y).$$
(A.13)

Again, j runs from 1 to 3.

A.4 Exact results for $Z\ell\ell$, $Z\nu\nu$, $W\ell\nu$ and $h\ell\ell$

In this section we give the exact expressions for the Z and W decays. The \tilde{T}^Q and \tilde{B}^{W_i} matrices, used in this section, are given in appendix A.5. In this whole section, the M_i stand for the diagonal bilinear mass terms in the charge eigenstates, given in eq. (2.14). It is implied by the corresponding coupling matrix Γ^i with same index *i* which of the eigenstates

is concerned, e.g. $\Gamma_{u^c\ell}$ corresponds to $M^{-1/3}$. For the Z decays, we use the conventions defined in eq. (4.8), this time with

$$\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R)}(q^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L(R)}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \sum_Q \Delta_{L(R),fi}^Q(q^2) + \tilde{\Delta}_{L(R),fi}^Q, \qquad (A.14a)$$

$$\Theta_{\nu_f \nu_i}(q^2) = \Theta_{\rm SM}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \sum_Q \Theta_{fi}^Q(q^2) + \tilde{\Theta}_{fi}^Q, \qquad (A.14b)$$

where contrary to eq. (4.9) we show the results sorted by the charges of the LQs, since we do not distinguish between the cases with and without LQ mixing. Hence, the results cannot be grouped by representation. For Q = -1/3 we have for the m_t -enhanced contributions

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) = \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{t^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{32\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \left[\delta_{ab} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) + \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right] - \frac{q^2}{18M_a^2} \left[2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) + \delta_{ab} \left(11 - 10s_w^2 + 2(3 - 4s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right] \right],$$
(A.15a)

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) = \frac{N_c \Gamma_{t^c \ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{t^c \ell_i}^{R,b}}{32\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \left[\delta_{ab} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) - \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right] + \frac{q^2}{18M_a^2} \left[2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) - \delta_{ab} \left(3 + 10s_w^2 + 8s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right] \right], \quad (A.15b)$$

and the case with light up-type quarks yields

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) - \delta_{ab} \left(3 - 3i\pi (4s_w^2 - 3) - 5s_w^2 + 3(4s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right],$$
(A.15c)

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_i}^{R,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) + \delta_{ab} \left(5s_w^2 + 12i\pi s_w^2 - 12s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right].$$
(A.15d)

The terms, induced by LQ mixing, read

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,fi}^{-1/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{64\pi^2} \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \left(3 + 2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) - 2\mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right)\right),$$
(A.16a)

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,fi}^{-1/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^2 \ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^2 \ell_i}^{R,b}}{64\pi^2} \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \left(3 + 2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) - 2\mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right)\right).$$
(A.16b)

For Q = 2/3 we have (massless) down-type quark effects

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{2/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_j \ell_i}^{L,a}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) - \delta_{ab} \left(4s_w^2 + 6i\pi s_w^2 - 6s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right],$$
(A.17a)

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{2/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{d_j \ell_i}^{R,a}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) + \delta_{ab} \left(3 - 3i\pi (2s_w^2 - 3) - 4s_w^2 + 3(2s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right], \quad (A.17b)$$

again with $a,b=\{1,2,3\}$ and the mixing terms read

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,fi}^{2/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_j \ell_i}^{L,a}}{128\pi^2} \left(2(2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} - \delta_{ab}) \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 6\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} - \delta_{ab} - 4\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right),$$
(A.18a)

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,fi}^{2/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{d_j \ell_i}^{R,a}}{128\pi^2} \left(2(2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} + \delta_{ab}) \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 6\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} + \delta_{ab} - 4\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right). \tag{A.18b}$$

For the LQs with electric charge Q = -4/3 we have

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{-4/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a}\right) + \delta_{ab} \left(3 - 3i\pi (2s_w^2 - 3) + 2s_w^2 + 3(2s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right], \qquad (A.19a)$$

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{-4/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_f} \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_i}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a}\right) + \delta_{ab} \left(2s_w^2 - 6i\pi s_w^2 + 6s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right],$$
(A.19b)

with $a,b=\{1,2\}$ and

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,fi}^{-4/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{64\pi^2} \left(2(\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} + \delta_{ab}) \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} + \delta_{ab} - 2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right),$$
(A.20a)

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,fi}^{-4/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_i}^{R,b}}{64\pi^2} \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-4/3} \left(2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 3 - 2\mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right), \tag{A.20b}$$

and for Q = 5/3

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{t\ell_f}^{L*} \Gamma_{t\ell_i}^L}{32\pi^2} \left[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{9M^2} \left(1 + 7s_w^2 + 4s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right)\right) \right], \tag{A.21a}$$

$$\Delta_{L,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{L*} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^L}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M^2} \left[3 - 2s_w^2 + 24i\pi s_w^2 - 24s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M^2}\right) \right],$$
(A.21b)

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \frac{N_c \Gamma_{t\ell_f}^{R*} \Gamma_{t\ell_i}^R}{32\pi^2} \left[\mathcal{H}_0\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right) - \frac{q^2}{9M^2} \left(6 - 7s_w^2 + (3 - 4s_w^2) \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right)\right) \right], \quad (A.21c)$$

$$\Delta_{R,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{R*} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^R}{1728\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M^2} \left[3 + 2s_w^2 - 6i\pi (4s_w^2 - 3) + 6(4s_w^2 - 3) \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M^2}\right) \right], \quad (A.21d)$$

with $M^2 = m_2^2 + v^2(Y_{22} + Y_2)$.

For $Z \to \nu_i \bar{\nu}_f$ with left-handed neutrinos only, we have for Q = -1/3 with (chargeconjugated) down-type quarks

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) &= \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \nu_i}^{L,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right. \\ &+ \delta_{ab} \left(3 - s_w^2 + 3i\pi (3 - 2s_w^2) - 3(3 - 2s_w^2) \log \left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right] \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^3 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j \nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j \nu_i}^{L,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right. \\ &- \delta_{ab} \left(s_w^2 + 6i\pi s_w^2 - 6s_w^2 \log \left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right]. \end{split}$$
(A.22)

The LQ indices run like $a, b = \{1, 2, 3\}$. Analogously to $Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ we have the $\tilde{\Theta}$ terms, originating from the LQ mixing

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{fi}^{-1/3} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j^c \nu_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \nu_i}^{L,a}}{64\pi^2} \tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \left(3 + 2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) - 2\mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right)\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{d_j \nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j \nu_i}^{L,b}}{128\pi^2} \left(2(2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} + \delta_{ab})\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 6\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} + \delta_{ab} - 4\tilde{T}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right)\right).$$
(A.23)

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{fi}^{2/3}(q^2) &= \frac{N_c \Gamma_{t\nu_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{t\nu_i}^{L,a}}{32\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \left[\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) - \delta_{ab} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \log \left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &- \frac{q^2}{18M_a^2} \left[2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) - \delta_{ab} \left(3 + 12s_w^2 + 8s_w^2 \log \left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &- \frac{N_c \Gamma_{t^c\nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^c\nu_i}^{L,b}}{32\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \left[\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) + \delta_{ab} \log \left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right] \right] \\ &- \frac{q^2}{18M_a^2} \left[2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) + \delta_{ab} \left(11 - 12s_w^2 + (6 - 8s_w^2) \log \left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right) \right] \right], \end{split}$$
(A.24)

and light up-type quarks

$$\Theta_{fi}^{2/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{u_j \nu_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^{L,a}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) + \delta_{ab} \left(2s_w^2 + 12i\pi s_w^2 - 12s_w^2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^c \nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \nu_i}^{L,b}}{864\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) - \delta_{ab} \left(3 - 2s_w^2 + 3i\pi(3 - 4s_w^2) + 3(4s_w^2 - 3)\log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right) \right].$$
(A.25)

The LQ indices take the values $a, b = \{1, 2, 3\}$. We finally have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Theta}_{fi}^{2/3} &= \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{u_j \nu_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^{L,a}}{128\pi^2} \left(2(2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} + \delta_{ab}) \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 6\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} + \delta_{ab} - 4\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j^c \nu_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \nu_i}^{L,b}}{64\pi^2} \left(2(\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} - \delta_{ab}) \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 3\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} - \delta_{ab} - 2\tilde{T}_{ab}^{2/3} \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_a^2}{M_b^2}\right) \right). \end{split}$$

$$(A.26)$$

For $W \to \ell_f^- \bar{\nu}_i$ decays, our definition of the amplitude is given in eq. (4.16) and contrary to eq. (4.17), we use

$$\Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(q^2) = \Lambda^W_{\rm SM}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \Lambda^q_{fi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Lambda}^q_{fi} + \Lambda^{q^c}_{fi}(q^2) + \tilde{\Lambda}^{q^c}_{fi}, \qquad (A.27)$$

where we choose to group the results by the fact whether a quark (q) or a charge-conjugated quark (q^c) runs in the loop. Because of obvious reasons, a grouping by representation is

again not possible. We have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{fi}^{q^{c}}(q^{2}) &= \frac{N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{b}^{2}} \Gamma_{t^{c}\nu_{f}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,b} + \frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}} \left[\Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{i}}^{L,a} - 2V_{3k}^{*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_{k}^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,a} \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right) \right. \\ &\left. - 2\tilde{B}_{ab}^{W_{2}} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,b} \mathcal{H}_{1}\left(\frac{M_{b}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right) \right] + \frac{2q^{2}}{9M_{a}^{2}} \left[6V_{3k}^{*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_{k}^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,a} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right)\right) \right. \\ &\left. + \tilde{B}_{ca}^{W_{1}} \Gamma_{b^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,c*} \Gamma_{b^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,a} \mathcal{H}_{2}\left(\frac{M_{c}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right) + \tilde{B}_{ab}^{W_{2}} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\nu_{i}}^{L,b} \mathcal{H}_{2}\left(\frac{M_{b}^{2}}{M_{a}^{2}}\right) \right] \right], \end{split}$$
(A.28)

and its massless case

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{q^c}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c}{576\pi^2} \frac{q^2}{M_a^2} \left[4V_{jk}^* \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^c \nu_i}^{L,a} \left(\log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) - 1 + 3i\pi \right) + 2\tilde{B}_{ca}^{W_1} \Gamma_{d_j^c \ell_f}^{L,c*} \Gamma_{d_j^c \nu_i}^{L,a} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_c^2}{M_a^2}\right) + 2\tilde{B}_{ab}^{W_2} \Gamma_{u_j^c \ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^c \nu_i}^{L,b} \mathcal{H}_2\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right) \right].$$
(A.29)

The LQ indices a and b run from 1 to 3, while $c = \{1, 2\}$. In case of quarks in the loop we have

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{q}(q^{2}) = \frac{N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{b}^{2}} \left(\Gamma_{t\nu_{f}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{t\nu_{i}}^{L,b} - 2\tilde{B}_{b}^{W_{3}} \Gamma_{t\ell_{f}}^{L*} \Gamma_{t\nu_{i}}^{L,b} \mathcal{H}_{1} \left(\frac{M^{2}}{M_{b}^{2}} \right) \right) + \frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M^{2}} \Gamma_{t\ell_{f}}^{L*} \Gamma_{t\ell_{i}}^{L} + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \frac{2q^{2}}{9M_{b}^{2}} \left(\tilde{B}_{ab}^{W_{2}} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,a} \mathcal{H}_{2} \left(\frac{M_{a}^{2}}{M_{b}^{2}} \right) + \tilde{B}_{b}^{W_{3}} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,b} \mathcal{H}_{2} \left(\frac{M^{2}}{M_{b}^{2}} \right) \right) \right].$$
(A.30)

Here, the index b runs from 1 to 3. The $\tilde{\Lambda}{}'\!\mathrm{s}$ read

again with $a, b = \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $c = \{1, 2\}$.

Next, we give the results for the Higgs decay into a pair of charged leptons, where our amplitude is defined in eq. (4.22). Again, we sort the results by the charge eigenstate contributions

$$\Upsilon_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R)}(q^2) = \delta_{fi} + \sum_Q \Upsilon_{L(R), fi}^Q(q^2) + \tilde{\Upsilon}_{L(R), fi}^Q.$$
(A.32)

In case of a heavy top quark in the loop, the results read

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{-1/3}(q^2) = \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{t^c \ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{t^c \ell_i}^{L,b}}{64\pi^2 M_a^2} \frac{m_t}{m_{fi}} \left(m_t^2 \delta_{ab} \mathcal{J}_t \left(\frac{q^2}{m_t^2}, \frac{m_t^2}{M_a^2} \right) - 4v \tilde{\Gamma}_{ab}^{-1/3} \mathcal{H}_1 \left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2} \right) \right), \quad (A.33a)$$

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \frac{-N_c \Gamma_{t\ell_f}^{R*} \Gamma_{t\ell_i}^L}{64\pi^2 M^2} \frac{m_t}{m_{fi}} \left(m_t^2 \mathcal{J}_t \left(\frac{q^2}{m_t^2}, \frac{m_t^2}{M^2} \right) - 8 \frac{v^2 Y_2}{\sqrt{2}} \right), \tag{A.33b}$$

with $M^2 = m_2^2 + v^2(Y_{22} + Y_2).$

In all the scenarios where $q^2\equiv m_h^2\gg m_{q_j}^2\gg m_{fi}^2$ the Higgs mass gives the dominant contribution

$$\Upsilon^{Q}_{L,fi}(q^2) = \sum_{j} \frac{N_c \Gamma^{R,a*}_{q_j \ell_f} \Gamma^{L,b}_{q_j \ell_i}}{64\pi^2 M_a^2} \frac{m_{q_j}}{m_{fi}} \mathcal{J}^{Q}_{ab}(q^2) \,, \tag{A.34a}$$

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{5/3}(q^2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{N_c \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{R*} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^L}{64\pi^2 M^2} \frac{m_{u_j}}{m_{fi}} \mathcal{J}^{5/3}(q^2) , \qquad (A.34b)$$

with

$$\mathcal{J}_{ab}^Q(q^2) = q^2 \delta_{ab} \left(2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M_a^2}\right) - 2i\pi - 1 \right) - 4v \tilde{\Gamma}_{ab}^Q \mathcal{H}_1\left(\frac{M_b^2}{M_a^2}\right), \tag{A.35a}$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{5/3}(q^2) = q^2 \left(2 \log\left(\frac{q^2}{M^2}\right) - 2i\pi - 1 \right) - 8\frac{Y_2}{\sqrt{2}}v^2 \,. \tag{A.35b}$$

In eq. (A.34a) the range of j depends on whether we have up- $(j = \{1, 2\})$ or down-type $(j = \{1, 2, 3\})$ quarks in the loop, since we treat the top separately. Finally, we consider as a last scenario $m_{fi} \gg m_{qj} \sim 0$ and we have

$$\Upsilon^{Q}_{L,fi} = \frac{vN_{c}\tilde{\Gamma}^{Q}_{ab}}{32\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{m_{\ell_{f}}}{m_{fi}} \frac{\Gamma^{L,a*}_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}\Gamma^{L,b}_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}}{M^{2}_{a}} \mathcal{J}_{3} \left(\frac{M^{2}_{b}}{M^{2}_{a}} \right) + \frac{m_{\ell_{i}}}{m_{fi}} \frac{\Gamma^{R,a*}_{q_{j}\ell_{f}}\Gamma^{R,b}_{q_{j}\ell_{i}}}{M^{2}_{b}} \mathcal{J}_{3} \left(\frac{M^{2}_{a}}{M^{2}_{b}} \right) \right) , \qquad (A.36a)$$

$$\Upsilon_{L,fi}^{5/3} = \frac{-\sqrt{2}v^2 N_c Y_2}{64\pi^2 M^2} \left(\frac{m_{\ell_f}}{m_{fi}} \lambda_{jf}^{2RL*} \lambda_{ji}^{2RL} + \frac{m_{\ell_i}}{m_{fi}} \lambda_{jf}^{2LR*} \lambda_{ji}^{2LR} \right) \,. \tag{A.36b}$$

A.5 Higgs, Z and W boson coupling matrices

The Higgs-LQ interaction matrices $\tilde{\Gamma}$, used in eqs. (A.35a) and (A.33a), and $\tilde{\Lambda}$ expanded up to $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{LQ}^2)$ read

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Gamma}^{-1/3} &\approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2v \left(Y_1 + \frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2}\right) & A_{\bar{2}1}^* & v \left(2Y_{13} - \frac{A_{\bar{2}3}A_{\bar{2}1}^*(m_1^2 + m_3^2 - 2\tilde{m}_2^2)}{(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)}\right) \\ A_{\bar{2}1} & \tilde{\Gamma}_{22}^{-1/3} & A_{\bar{2}3} \\ v \left(2Y_{13}^* - \frac{A_{\bar{2}1}A_{\bar{2}3}^*(m_1^2 + m_3^2 - 2\tilde{m}_2^2)}{(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)}\right) & A_{\bar{2}3}^* & 2v \left(Y_3 + \frac{|A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{m_3 - \tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \end{pmatrix}, \\ \text{with} \quad \tilde{\Gamma}_{22}^{-1/3} &= 2v \left(Y_{\bar{2}} - \frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} - \frac{|A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2}\right), \end{split}$$
(A.37a)

$$\tilde{\Gamma}^{2/3} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2vY_2 & 2vY_{\tilde{2}2} & 0\\ 2vY_{\tilde{2}2}^* & 2v\left(Y_{\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}} - \frac{2|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2}\right) & -\sqrt{2}A_{\tilde{2}3}\\ 0 & -\sqrt{2}A_{\tilde{2}3}^* & 2v\left(Y_3 + Y_{33} + \frac{2|A_{\tilde{2}3}|^2}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2}\right) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.37b)$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}^{-4/3} \approx \Gamma^{-4/3}, \quad (A.37c)$$

and

$$\tilde{\Lambda}^{-1/3} \approx \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y_1 & v \left(\frac{Y_{31}A_{23}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} + \frac{(Y_2 - Y_1)A_{21}^*}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \right) & Y_{13} \\ v \left(\frac{Y_{31}A_{23}}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} + \frac{(Y_2 - Y_1)A_{21}}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \right) & Y_2 & v \left(\frac{Y_{31}A_{21}}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2} + \frac{(Y_2 - Y_3)A_{23}}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \right) \\ Y_{13}^* & v \left(\frac{Y_{31}^*A_{21}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2} + \frac{(Y_2 - Y_3)A_{23}^*}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \right) & Y_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.38a)

$$\tilde{\Lambda}^{2/3} \approx \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y_2 & Y_{\tilde{2}2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}vY_{\tilde{2}2}A_{\tilde{2}3}}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} \\ Y_{\tilde{2}2}^* & Y_{\tilde{2}} + Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}} & \frac{\sqrt{2}v(Y_3 - Y_{\tilde{2}} - Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}})A_{\tilde{2}3}}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}vY_{\tilde{2}2}^*A_{\tilde{2}3}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}v(Y_3 - Y_{\tilde{2}} - Y_{\tilde{2}\tilde{2}})A_{\tilde{2}3}^*}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & Y_3 + Y_{33} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.38b)
$$\tilde{\Lambda}^{-4/3} \approx \Lambda^{-4/3}.$$
(A.38c)

Next, we will give the expressions for the weak isospin matrices T^Q , expanded in terms of v. They read in case of no LQ mixing

$$T^{-1/3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T^{2/3} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T^{-4/3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T^{5/3} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (A.39)$$

using the basis defined in eq. (2.10). A unitary redefinition of the LQ fields in order to diagonalize the mass matrices in eq. (2.9) also affects the T^Q matrices

$$\tilde{T}^Q = W^Q T^Q W^{Q\dagger} \,. \tag{A.40}$$

Note that the LQ field redefinition has no impact the electromagnetic interaction, since the coupling matrix is proportional to the unit matrix and the W^Q then cancel due to unitarity. If we use the perturbative diagonalization ansatz, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{T}^{-1/3} &\approx \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-v^2 |A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{2(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}1}^*}{2(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2)} & \frac{v^2 A_{\bar{2}3} A_{\bar{2}1}^*}{2(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)} \\ \frac{vA_{\bar{2}1}}{2(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_1^2)} & -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{v^2}{2} \left(\frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} + \frac{|A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} \right) & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}3}}{2(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)} \\ \frac{v^2 A_{\bar{2}1} A_{\bar{2}3}^*}{2(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)} & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}3}^*}{2(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)} & \frac{-v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{2(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} \end{pmatrix} \\ \tilde{T}^{2/3} &\approx \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{v^2 Y_{\bar{2}2}}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 0 \\ \frac{v^2 Y_{\bar{2}2}}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & \frac{1}{2} + \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}3}}{\sqrt{2}(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)} \\ 0 & \frac{vA_{\bar{2}3}}{\sqrt{2}(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)} & 1 - \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$
(A.41b)

$$\tilde{T}^{-4/3} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\bar{1}}}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_1^2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}v^2 Y_{3\bar{1}}}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_1^2} & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.41c)

valid up to $O(v^2/m_{LQ}^2)$. $T^{5/3}$ is not affected, since the LQ with charge Q = 5/3 does not mix.

Analogously to the isospin coupling of the Z boson, different LQ generations mix under W interactions. Without LQ mixing, the interactions with the W boson can be written in terms of the following matrices

$$B^{W_1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B^{W_2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\sqrt{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B^{W_3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.42)$$

arranging the LQ in their charge eigenstates according to eq. (2.10). B^{W_1} describes the interaction of LQs with electric charges Q = -4/3 and Q = -1/3, B^{W_2} the ones with Q = -1/3 and Q = 2/3, B^{W_3} with Q = 5/3 and Q = 2/3. If we include LQ mixing, the matrices expanded up to $\mathcal{O}(v^2/m_{\mathrm{LQ}}^2)$, then read

$$\tilde{B}^{W_1} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \frac{2v^2 Y_{3\bar{1}}^*}{\tilde{m}_1 - m_3^2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}v^2}{m_1^2 - m_3^2} \left(\frac{A_{\bar{2}1}A_{\bar{2}3}^*}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} + Y_{3\bar{1}}^* \right) & \frac{\sqrt{2}vA_{\bar{2}3}^*}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} & \sqrt{2} - \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{\sqrt{2}(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.43a)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{B}^{W_2} &\approx \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & \frac{\sqrt{2v}}{m_1^2 - m_3^2} \left(\frac{23 - 21}{m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} - Y_{31} \right) \\ \frac{v^2 Y_{22}}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} & 1 - \frac{v^2}{2} \left(\frac{|A_{\bar{2}1}|^2}{(m_1^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} - \frac{|A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{(\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2)^2} \right) & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{v A_{\bar{2}3}}{\tilde{m}_2^2 - m_3^2} & -\sqrt{2} - \frac{v^2 |A_{\bar{2}3}|^2}{\sqrt{2}(m_3^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2)^2} \end{pmatrix} , \end{split}$$
(A.43b)
$$\tilde{B}^{W_3} \approx \left(1 \ \frac{-v^2 Y_{22}^*}{m_2^2 - \tilde{m}_2^2} \ 0 \right) .$$
(A.43c)

A.6 4*l*

Besides the penguin diagrams, mediated by the off-shell photon and Z boson, we also have the box diagrams. The matching results on $\ell_i^- \to \ell_f^- \ell_p^- \ell_r^+$ read

$$\begin{split} C_{fipr}^{V\,LL} &= \frac{-N_c}{256\pi^2} \Big[\Big(\Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,b} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad + \Big(\Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{d}\ell_p}^{L,a} \Gamma_{u_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a*} + \Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{d}\ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,b} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Big(\Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a*} + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a} D_0(0, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad + \Big(\Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a*} + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a} D_0(0, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad + \Big(\Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a*} + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{L,a} D_0(0, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad + \Big(\Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_k^{d}\ell_r}^{R,a} + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad - 2\Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_r}^{R,a} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M_a^2, M_b^2) \\ &\quad - 2\Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{t^{c}\ell_i}^{L,b} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_r}^{R,b} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{u_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} D_2(m_k^2, m_j^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_p}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} D_0(m_k^2, m_k^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} D_0(m_k^2, m_k^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{R,a*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_f}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_k^{c}\ell_p}^{L,a*} D_0(m_k^2, m_k^2, M^2, M^2) \\ &\quad + \Gamma_{d_j^{c}\ell_f}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_k^{c}\ell_f}^{L$$

where $C_{fipr}^{V\,RR}$, $C_{fipr}^{V\,RL}$ and $C_{fipr}^{S\,RR}$ are obtained by simply exchanging $\Gamma^L \leftrightarrow \Gamma^R$.

A.7 $2\ell 2\nu$

Here we show the box contributions, induced by the Q = -1/3 and Q = 2/3 LQs. We obtain for $\ell_i^- \to \ell_f^- \nu_p \bar{\nu}_r$

$$D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,pr} = \frac{-N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \bigg[\Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\ell_{f}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\ell_{i}}^{L,a} \Big(\Gamma_{d_{k}^{c}\nu_{p}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_{k}^{c}\nu_{r}}^{L,b} - \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{p}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{r}}^{L,a} \Big) C_{0}(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, M_{a}^{2}, M_{b}^{2}) \\ + \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{f}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{i}}^{L,a} \Big(\Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{p}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\nu_{p}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\nu_{r}}^{L,a} \Big) C_{0}(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, M_{a}^{2}, M_{b}^{2}) \bigg],$$
(A.45a)
$$D_{k,pr}^{R,pr} = \frac{-N_{c}}{\Gamma_{k}^{R,b*}} \Gamma_{k,a}^{R,a} \Big(\Gamma_{u,a*}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u,b*}^{L,b} - \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\nu_{p}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u,a}^{L,a} \Big) C_{0}(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, M_{a}^{2}, M_{b}^{2}) \bigg],$$
(A.45a)

$$D_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R,pr} = \frac{1}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\ell_{f}}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\ell_{i}}^{R,a} \left(\Gamma_{d_{k}^{L,a*}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{d_{k}^{L,b}}^{L,b} - \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{p}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{p}}^{L,a} \right) C_{0}(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, M_{a}^{2}, M_{b}^{2}) + \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{f}}^{R,b*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{i}}^{R,a} \left(\Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{p}}^{L,a*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{p}}^{L,b} - \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\nu_{p}}^{L,b*} \Gamma_{u_{j}^{c}\nu_{p}}^{L,a} \right) C_{0}(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, M_{a}^{2}, M_{b}^{2}) \right].$$
(A.45b)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.C. Pati and A. Salam, Lepton Number as the Fourth Color, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 275 [Erratum ibid. 11 (1975) 703] [INSPIRE].
- [2] H. Georgi and S.L. Glashow, Unity of All Elementary Particle Forces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 32 (1974) 438 [INSPIRE].
- [3] H. Georgi, H.R. Quinn and S. Weinberg, *Hierarchy of Interactions in Unified Gauge Theories*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **33** (1974) 451 [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Fritzsch and P. Minkowski, Unified Interactions of Leptons and Hadrons, Annals Phys. 93 (1975) 193 [INSPIRE].
- [5] W. Buchmüller, R. Ruckl and D. Wyler, Leptoquarks in Lepton-Quark Collisions, Phys. Lett. B 191 (1987) 442 [Erratum ibid. 448 (1999) 320] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S. Davidson, D.C. Bailey and B.A. Campbell, Model independent constraints on leptoquarks from rare processes, Z. Phys. C 61 (1994) 613 [hep-ph/9309310] [INSPIRE].
- [7] H1 collaboration, Observation of events at very high Q² in ep collisions at HERA, Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 191 [hep-ex/9702012] [INSPIRE].
- [8] ZEUS collaboration, Comparison of ZEUS data with standard model predictions for e⁺p → e⁺X scattering at high x and Q², Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 207 [hep-ex/9702015] [INSPIRE].
- [9] BABAR collaboration, Evidence for an excess of $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$ decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 101802 [arXiv:1205.5442] [INSPIRE].
- [10] BABAR collaboration, Measurement of an Excess of $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$ Decays and Implications for Charged Higgs Bosons, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 072012 [arXiv:1303.0571] [INSPIRE].
- [11] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the ratio of branching fractions $\mathcal{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to D^{*+}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau})/\mathcal{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to D^{*+}\mu^-\bar{\nu}_{\mu})$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **115** (2015) 111803 [Erratum ibid. **115** (2015) 159901] [arXiv:1506.08614] [INSPIRE].
- [12] LHCb collaboration, Test of Lepton Flavor Universality by the measurement of the $B^0 \rightarrow D^{*-} \tau^+ \nu_{\tau}$ branching fraction using three-prong τ decays, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 072013 [arXiv:1711.02505] [INSPIRE].
- [13] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the ratio of the $B^0 \to D^{*-}\tau^+\nu_{\tau}$ and $B^0 \to D^{*-}\mu^+\nu_{\mu}$ branching fractions using three-prong τ -lepton decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018) 171802 [arXiv:1708.08856] [INSPIRE].
- [14] BELLE collaboration, Measurement of $\mathcal{R}(D)$ and $\mathcal{R}(D^*)$ with a semileptonic tagging method, arXiv:1904.08794 [INSPIRE].
- [15] CMS and LHCb collaborations, Observation of the rare $B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$ decay from the combined analysis of CMS and LHCb data, Nature **522** (2015) 68 [arXiv:1411.4413] [INSPIRE].
- [16] LHCb collaboration, Angular analysis of the $B^0 \to K^{*0}\mu^+\mu^-$ decay using $3 fb^{-1}$ of integrated luminosity, JHEP **02** (2016) 104 [arXiv:1512.04442] [INSPIRE].

- [17] BELLE collaboration, Angular analysis of $B^0 \to K^*(892)^0 \ell^+ \ell^-$, in LHC Ski 2016: A First Discussion of 13 TeV Results, (2016) [arXiv:1604.04042] [INSPIRE].
- [18] LHCb collaboration, Test of lepton universality with $B^0 \to K^{*0}\ell^+\ell^-$ decays, JHEP 08 (2017) 055 [arXiv:1705.05802] [INSPIRE].
- [19] LHCb collaboration, Search for lepton-universality violation in $B^+ \to K^+ \ell^+ \ell^-$ decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 191801 [arXiv:1903.09252] [INSPIRE].
- [20] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of CP-Averaged Observables in the $B^0 \to K^{*0} \mu^+ \mu^-$ Decay, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 011802 [arXiv:2003.04831] [INSPIRE].
- [21] MUON G-2 collaboration, Final Report of the Muon E821 Anomalous Magnetic Moment Measurement at BNL, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 072003 [hep-ex/0602035] [INSPIRE].
- [22] HFLAV collaboration, Averages of b-hadron, c-hadron, and τ-lepton properties as of summer 2016, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 895 [arXiv:1612.07233] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C. Murgui, A. Peñuelas, M. Jung and A. Pich, Global fit to $b \to c\tau\nu$ transitions, JHEP 09 (2019) 103 [arXiv:1904.09311] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R.-X. Shi, L.-S. Geng, B. Grinstein, S. Jäger and J. Martin Camalich, *Revisiting the new-physics interpretation of the* $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu \ data, JHEP \ 12 \ (2019) \ 065 \ [arXiv:1905.08498] \ [INSPIRE].$
- [25] M. Blanke, A. Crivellin, T. Kitahara, M. Moscati, U. Nierste and I. Nišandžić, Addendum to "Impact of polarization observables and $B_c \to \tau \nu$ on new physics explanations of the $b \to c\tau \nu$ anomaly", arXiv:1905.08253 [Addendum ibid. 100 (2019) 035035] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Kumbhakar, A.K. Alok, D. Kumar and S.U. Sankar, A global fit to $b \to c\tau\bar{\nu}$ anomalies after Moriond 2019, PoS **EPS-HEP2019** (2020) 272 [arXiv:1909.02840] [INSPIRE].
- [27] B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, J. Matias and J. Virto, *Patterns of New Physics in* $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ *transitions in the light of recent data*, *JHEP* **01** (2018) 093 [arXiv:1704.05340] [INSPIRE].
- [28] W. Altmannshofer, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, Interpreting Hints for Lepton Flavor Universality Violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 055008 [arXiv:1704.05435] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Algueró et al., Emerging patterns of New Physics with and without Lepton Flavour Universal contributions, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 714 [Addendum ibid. 80 (2020) 511] [arXiv:1903.09578] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A.K. Alok, A. Dighe, S. Gangal and D. Kumar, Continuing search for new physics in $b \rightarrow s\mu\mu$ decays: two operators at a time, JHEP **06** (2019) 089 [arXiv:1903.09617] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Ciuchini et al., New Physics in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ confronts new data on Lepton Universality, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 719 [arXiv:1903.09632] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J. Aebischer, W. Altmannshofer, D. Guadagnoli, M. Reboud, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, B-decay discrepancies after Moriond 2019, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 252 [arXiv:1903.10434] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Arbey, T. Hurth, F. Mahmoudi, D.M. Santos and S. Neshatpour, Update on the $b \rightarrow s$ anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 015045 [arXiv:1904.08399] [INSPIRE].
- [34] D. Kumar, K. Kowalska and E.M. Sessolo, Global Bayesian Analysis of new physics in b → sµµ transitions after Moriond-2019, in 17th Conference on Flavor Physics and CP-violation, 6, 2019 [arXiv:1906.08596] [INSPIRE].

- [35] T. Aoyama et al., The anomalous magnetic moment of the muon in the Standard Model, Phys. Rept. 887 (2020) 1 [arXiv:2006.04822] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A.M. Coutinho, A. Crivellin and C.A. Manzari, Global Fit to Modified Neutrino Couplings and the Cabibbo-Angle Anomaly, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 071802 [arXiv:1912.08823] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Crivellin and M. Hoferichter, β Decays as Sensitive Probes of Lepton Flavor Universality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 111801 [arXiv:2002.07184] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Crivellin, F. Kirk, C.A. Manzari and M. Montull, *Global Electroweak Fit and Vector-Like Leptons in Light of the Cabibbo Angle Anomaly*, arXiv:2008.01113 [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Kirk, The Cabibbo anomaly versus electroweak precision tests an exploration of extensions of the Standard Model, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 035004 [arXiv:2008.03261] [INSPIRE].
- [40] R. Alonso, B. Grinstein and J. Martin Camalich, Lepton universality violation and lepton flavor conservation in B-meson decays, JHEP 10 (2015) 184 [arXiv:1505.05164]
 [INSPIRE].
- [41] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin and T. Ota, Effective Field Theory Approach to $b \to s\ell\ell^{(\prime)}$, $B \to K^{(*)}\nu\overline{\nu}$ and $B \to D^{(*)}\tau\nu$ with Third Generation Couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 181801 [arXiv:1506.02661] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Hiller, D. Loose and K. Schönwald, Leptoquark Flavor Patterns & B Decay Anomalies, JHEP 12 (2016) 027 [arXiv:1609.08895] [INSPIRE].
- [43] B. Bhattacharya, A. Datta, J.-P. Guévin, D. London and R. Watanabe, Simultaneous Explanation of the R_K and $R_{D^{(*)}}$ Puzzles: a Model Analysis, JHEP **01** (2017) 015 [arXiv:1609.09078] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Buttazzo, A. Greljo, G. Isidori and D. Marzocca, B-physics anomalies: a guide to combined explanations, JHEP 11 (2017) 044 [arXiv:1706.07808] [INSPIRE].
- [45] R. Barbieri, G. Isidori, A. Pattori and F. Senia, Anomalies in B-decays and U(2) flavour symmetry, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 67 [arXiv:1512.01560] [INSPIRE].
- [46] R. Barbieri, C.W. Murphy and F. Senia, B-decay Anomalies in a Composite Leptoquark Model, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 8 [arXiv:1611.04930] [INSPIRE].
- [47] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin and T. Li, Model of vector leptoquarks in view of the B-physics anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 115002 [arXiv:1709.00692] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Crivellin, D. Müller, A. Signer and Y. Ulrich, Correlating lepton flavor universality violation in B decays with $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ using leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 015019 [arXiv:1706.08511] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martín and G. Isidori, Low-energy signatures of the PS³ model: from B-physics anomalies to LFV, JHEP 10 (2018) 148 [arXiv:1805.09328] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Kumar, D. London and R. Watanabe, Combined Explanations of the $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ and $b \to c\tau^-\bar{\nu}$ Anomalies: a General Model Analysis, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 015007 [arXiv:1806.07403] [INSPIRE].
- [51] A. Crivellin, C. Greub, D. Müller and F. Saturnino, Importance of Loop Effects in Explaining the Accumulated Evidence for New Physics in B Decays with a Vector Leptoquark, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 011805 [arXiv:1807.02068] [INSPIRE].

- [52] A. Crivellin and F. Saturnino, Explaining the Flavor Anomalies with a Vector Leptoquark (Moriond 2019 update), PoS DIS2019 (2019) 163 [arXiv:1906.01222] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin and G. Isidori, *Revisiting the vector leptoquark explanation* of the *B-physics anomalies*, *JHEP* **07** (2019) 168 [arXiv:1903.11517] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Bordone, O. Catà and T. Feldmann, Effective Theory Approach to New Physics with Flavour: General Framework and a Leptoquark Example, JHEP 01 (2020) 067 [arXiv:1910.02641] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J. Bernigaud, I. de Medeiros Varzielas and J. Talbert, Finite Family Groups for Fermionic and Leptoquark Mixing Patterns, JHEP 01 (2020) 194 [arXiv:1906.11270] [INSPIRE].
- [56] J. Aebischer, A. Crivellin and C. Greub, QCD improved matching for semileptonic B decays with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 055002 [arXiv:1811.08907] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. Fuentes-Martín, G. Isidori, M. König and N. Selimović, Vector Leptoquarks Beyond Tree Level, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 035024 [arXiv:1910.13474] [INSPIRE].
- [58] S. Fajfer and N. Košnik, Vector leptoquark resolution of R_K and $R_{D^{(*)}}$ puzzles, Phys. Lett. B 755 (2016) 270 [arXiv:1511.06024] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Blanke and A. Crivellin, B Meson Anomalies in a Pati-Salam Model within the Randall-Sundrum Background, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 011801 [arXiv:1801.07256]
 [INSPIRE].
- [60] I. de Medeiros Varzielas and J. Talbert, Simplified Models of Flavourful Leptoquarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 536 [arXiv:1901.10484] [INSPIRE].
- [61] I. de Medeiros Varzielas and G. Hiller, Clues for flavor from rare lepton and quark decays, JHEP 06 (2015) 072 [arXiv:1503.01084] [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Crivellin, D. Müller and F. Saturnino, Flavor Phenomenology of the Leptoquark Singlet-Triplet Model, JHEP 06 (2020) 020 [arXiv:1912.04224] [INSPIRE].
- [63] S. Saad, Combined explanations of $(g-2)_{\mu}$, $R_{D^{(*)}}$, $R_{K^{(*)}}$ anomalies in a two-loop radiative neutrino mass model, Phys. Rev. D **102** (2020) 015019 [arXiv:2005.04352] [INSPIRE].
- [64] S. Saad and A. Thapa, Common origin of neutrino masses and $R_{D^{(*)}}$, $R_{K^{(*)}}$ anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 015014 [arXiv:2004.07880] [INSPIRE].
- [65] V. Gherardi, D. Marzocca and E. Venturini, Low-energy phenomenology of scalar leptoquarks at one-loop accuracy, JHEP 01 (2021) 138 [arXiv:2008.09548] [INSPIRE].
- [66] M. Bordone, O. Catà, T. Feldmann and R. Mandal, Constraining flavour patterns of scalar leptoquarks in the effective field theory, arXiv:2010.03297 [INSPIRE].
- [67] M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin and G. Isidori, A three-site gauge model for flavor hierarchies and flavor anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 779 (2018) 317 [arXiv:1712.01368]
 [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Biswas, D. Kumar Ghosh, N. Ghosh, A. Shaw and A.K. Swain, Collider signature of U₁ Leptoquark and constraints from b → c observables, J. Phys. G 47 (2020) 045005 [arXiv:1808.04169] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Heeck and D. Teresi, Pati-Salam explanations of the B-meson anomalies, JHEP 12 (2018) 103 [arXiv:1808.07492] [INSPIRE].
- S. Sahoo and R. Mohanta, Scalar leptoquarks and the rare B meson decays, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 094019 [arXiv:1501.05193] [INSPIRE].

- [71] C.-H. Chen, T. Nomura and H. Okada, Explanation of $B \to K^{(*)}\ell^+\ell^-$ and muon g-2, and implications at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 115005 [arXiv:1607.04857] [INSPIRE].
- [72] U.K. Dey, D. Kar, M. Mitra, M. Spannowsky and A.C. Vincent, Searching for Leptoquarks at IceCube and the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 035014 [arXiv:1709.02009] [INSPIRE].
- [73] D. Bečirević and O. Sumensari, A leptoquark model to accommodate $R_K^{\text{exp}} < R_K^{\text{SM}}$ and $R_{K^*}^{\text{exp}} < R_{K^*}^{\text{SM}}$, JHEP 08 (2017) 104 [arXiv:1704.05835] [INSPIRE].
- [74] B. Chauhan, B. Kindra and A. Narang, Discrepancies in simultaneous explanation of flavor anomalies and IceCube PeV events using leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095007
 [arXiv:1706.04598] [INSPIRE].
- [75] D. Bečirević, I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, N. Košnik, D.A. Faroughy and O. Sumensari, Scalar leptoquarks from grand unified theories to accommodate the B-physics anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 055003 [arXiv:1806.05689] [INSPIRE].
- [76] O. Popov, M.A. Schmidt and G. White, R_2 as a single leptoquark solution to $R_{D^{(*)}}$ and $R_{K^{(*)}}$, *Phys. Rev. D* **100** (2019) 035028 [arXiv:1905.06339] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Fajfer, J.F. Kamenik, I. Nisandzic and J. Zupan, Implications of Lepton Flavor Universality Violations in B Decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 161801
 [arXiv:1206.1872] [INSPIRE].
- [78] N.G. Deshpande and A. Menon, *Hints of R-parity violation in B decays into* $\tau\nu$, *JHEP* **01** (2013) 025 [arXiv:1208.4134] [INSPIRE].
- [79] M. Freytsis, Z. Ligeti and J.T. Ruderman, Flavor models for $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau\bar{\nu}$, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 054018 [arXiv:1506.08896] [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Bauer and M. Neubert, Minimal Leptoquark Explanation for the $R_{D^{(*)}}$, R_K , and $(g-2)_g$ Anomalies, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116** (2016) 141802 [arXiv:1511.01900] [INSPIRE].
- [81] X.-Q. Li, Y.-D. Yang and X. Zhang, Revisiting the one leptoquark solution to the $R(D^{(*)})$ anomalies and its phenomenological implications, JHEP **08** (2016) 054 [arXiv:1605.09308] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J. Zhu, H.-M. Gan, R.-M. Wang, Y.-Y. Fan, Q. Chang and Y.-G. Xu, Probing the *R*-parity violating supersymmetric effects in the exclusive $b \rightarrow c\ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ decays, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 094023 [arXiv:1602.06491] [INSPIRE].
- [83] O. Popov and G.A. White, One Leptoquark to unify them? Neutrino masses and unification in the light of (g − 2)_μ, R_{D^(*)} and R_K anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B **923** (2017) 324 [arXiv:1611.04566] [INSPIRE].
- [84] N.G. Deshpande and X.-G. He, Consequences of R-parity violating interactions for anomalies in B
 → D^(*)τν
 and b → sμ⁺μ⁻, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 134 [arXiv:1608.04817] [INSPIRE].
- [85] D. Bečirević, N. Košnik, O. Sumensari and R. Zukanovich Funchal, Palatable Leptoquark Scenarios for Lepton Flavor Violation in Exclusive b → sl₁l₂ modes, JHEP 11 (2016) 035 [arXiv:1608.07583] [INSPIRE].
- [86] Y. Cai, J. Gargalionis, M.A. Schmidt and R.R. Volkas, Reconsidering the One Leptoquark solution: flavor anomalies and neutrino mass, JHEP 10 (2017) 047 [arXiv:1704.05849] [INSPIRE].
- [87] W. Altmannshofer, P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Soni, R_{D(*)} anomaly: A possible hint for natural supersymmetry with R-parity violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 095010
 [arXiv:1704.06659] [INSPIRE].

- [88] S. Kamali, A. Rashed and A. Datta, New physics in inclusive $B \to X_c \ell \bar{\nu}$ decay in light of $R(D^{(*)})$ measurements, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095034 [arXiv:1801.08259] [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Azatov, D. Bardhan, D. Ghosh, F. Sgarlata and E. Venturini, Anatomy of $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu$ anomalies, JHEP 11 (2018) 187 [arXiv:1805.03209] [INSPIRE].
- [90] J. Zhu, B. Wei, J.-H. Sheng, R.-M. Wang, Y. Gao and G.-R. Lu, Probing the *R*-parity violating supersymmetric effects in $B_c \to J/\psi \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$, $\eta_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ and $\Lambda_b \to \Lambda_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ decays, Nucl. Phys. B **934** (2018) 380 [arXiv:1801.00917] [INSPIRE].
- [91] A. Angelescu, D. Bečirević, D.A. Faroughy and O. Sumensari, Closing the window on single leptoquark solutions to the B-physics anomalies, JHEP 10 (2018) 183 [arXiv:1808.08179]
 [INSPIRE].
- [92] T.J. Kim, P. Ko, J. Li, J. Park and P. Wu, Correlation between $R_{D^{(*)}}$ and top quark FCNC decays in leptoquark models, JHEP 07 (2019) 025 [arXiv:1812.08484] [INSPIRE].
- [93] A. Crivellin and F. Saturnino, Correlating tauonic B decays with the neutron electric dipole moment via a scalar leptoquark, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 115014 [arXiv:1905.08257]
 [INSPIRE].
- [94] H. Yan, Y.-D. Yang and X.-B. Yuan, Phenomenology of $b \to c\tau\bar{\nu}$ decays in a scalar leptoquark model, Chin. Phys. C 43 (2019) 083105 [arXiv:1905.01795] [INSPIRE].
- [95] A. Crivellin, D. Müller and T. Ota, Simultaneous explanation of $R(D^{(*)})$ and $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$: the last scalar leptoquarks standing, JHEP 09 (2017) 040 [arXiv:1703.09226] [INSPIRE].
- [96] D. Marzocca, Addressing the B-physics anomalies in a fundamental Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 07 (2018) 121 [arXiv:1803.10972] [INSPIRE].
- [97] I. Bigaran, J. Gargalionis and R.R. Volkas, A near-minimal leptoquark model for reconciling flavour anomalies and generating radiative neutrino masses, JHEP 10 (2019) 106
 [arXiv:1906.01870] [INSPIRE].
- [98] P.S. Bhupal Dev, R. Mohanta, S. Patra and S. Sahoo, Unified explanation of flavor anomalies, radiative neutrino masses, and ANITA anomalous events in a vector leptoquark model, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 095012 [arXiv:2004.09464] [INSPIRE].
- [99] W. Altmannshofer, P.S.B. Dev, A. Soni and Y. Sui, Addressing $R_{D^{(*)}}$, $R_{K^{(*)}}$, muon g-2and ANITA anomalies in a minimal *R*-parity violating supersymmetric framework, *Phys. Rev. D* **102** (2020) 015031 [arXiv:2002.12910] [INSPIRE].
- [100] A. Djouadi, T. Kohler, M. Spira and J. Tutas, (eb), (et) TYPE leptoquarks at ep colliders, Z. Phys. C 46 (1990) 679 [INSPIRE].
- [101] D. Chakraverty, D. Choudhury and A. Datta, A Nonsupersymmetric resolution of the anomalous muon magnetic moment, Phys. Lett. B 506 (2001) 103 [hep-ph/0102180]
 [INSPIRE].
- [102] K.-m. Cheung, Muon anomalous magnetic moment and leptoquark solutions, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 033001 [hep-ph/0102238] [INSPIRE].
- [103] C. Biggio, M. Bordone, L. Di Luzio and G. Ridolfi, Massive vectors and loop observables: the g-2 case, JHEP 10 (2016) 002 [arXiv:1607.07621] [INSPIRE].
- [104] G. Couture and H. Konig, Bounds on second generation scalar leptoquarks from the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 555 [hep-ph/9507263]
 [INSPIRE].
- [105] U. Mahanta, Implications of BNL measurement of δa_{μ} on a class of scalar leptoquark interactions, Eur. Phys. J. C **21** (2001) 171 [hep-ph/0102176] [INSPIRE].

- [106] F.S. Queiroz, K. Sinha and A. Strumia, Leptoquarks, Dark Matter, and Anomalous LHC Events, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 035006 [arXiv:1409.6301] [INSPIRE].
- [107] E. Coluccio Leskow, G. D'Ambrosio, A. Crivellin and D. Müller, (g 2)μ, lepton flavor violation, and Z decays with leptoquarks: Correlations and future prospects, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 055018 [arXiv:1612.06858] [INSPIRE].
- [108] C.-H. Chen, T. Nomura and H. Okada, Excesses of muon g 2, $R_{D^{(*)}}$, and R_K in a leptoquark model, Phys. Lett. B 774 (2017) 456 [arXiv:1703.03251] [INSPIRE].
- [109] D. Das, C. Hati, G. Kumar and N. Mahajan, Towards a unified explanation of $R_{D^{(*)}}$, R_K and $(g-2)_{\mu}$ anomalies in a left-right model with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 055034 [arXiv:1605.06313] [INSPIRE].
- [110] A. Crivellin, M. Hoferichter and P. Schmidt-Wellenburg, Combined explanations of (g-2)_{μ,e} and implications for a large muon EDM, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 113002
 [arXiv:1807.11484] [INSPIRE].
- [111] K. Kowalska, E.M. Sessolo and Y. Yamamoto, Constraints on charmphilic solutions to the muon g-2 with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 055007 [arXiv:1812.06851] [INSPIRE].
- [112] R. Mandal and A. Pich, Constraints on scalar leptoquarks from lepton and kaon physics, JHEP 12 (2019) 089 [arXiv:1908.11155] [INSPIRE].
- [113] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer and O. Sumensari, Muon g 2 and scalar leptoquark mixing, JHEP 06 (2020) 089 [arXiv:1910.03877] [INSPIRE].
- [114] L. Delle Rose, C. Marzo and L. Marzola, Simplified leptoquark models for precision $l_i \rightarrow l_f \gamma$ experiments: two-loop structure of $O(\alpha_S Y^2)$ corrections, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 115020 [arXiv:2005.12389] [INSPIRE].
- [115] I. Bigaran and R.R. Volkas, Getting chirality right: Single scalar leptoquark solutions to the $(g-2)_{e,\mu}$ puzzle, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 075037 [arXiv:2002.12544] [INSPIRE].
- [116] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer and S. Saad, $\mu \to e\gamma$ selecting scalar leptoquark solutions for the $(g-2)_{e,\mu}$ puzzles, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 075007 [arXiv:2006.11624] [INSPIRE].
- [117] K.S. Babu, P.S.B. Dev, S. Jana and A. Thapa, Unified Framework for B-Anomalies, Muon g-2, and Neutrino Masses, arXiv: 2009.01771 [INSPIRE].
- [118] M. Krämer, T. Plehn, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Pair production of scalar leptoquarks at the Tevatron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 (1997) 341 [hep-ph/9704322] [INSPIRE].
- [119] M. Krämer, T. Plehn, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Pair production of scalar leptoquarks at the CERN LHC, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 057503 [hep-ph/0411038] [INSPIRE].
- [120] D.A. Faroughy, A. Greljo and J.F. Kamenik, Confronting lepton flavor universality violation in B decays with high-p_T tau lepton searches at LHC, Phys. Lett. B 764 (2017) 126 [arXiv:1609.07138] [INSPIRE].
- [121] A. Greljo and D. Marzocca, High-p_T dilepton tails and flavor physics, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 548 [arXiv:1704.09015] [INSPIRE].
- [122] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, D.A. Faroughy and N. Košnik, The role of the S₃ GUT leptoquark in flavor universality and collider searches, JHEP 10 (2017) 188 [arXiv:1706.07779]
 [INSPIRE].
- [123] A. Cerri et al., Report from Working Group 4: Opportunities in Flavour Physics at the HL-LHC and HE-LHC, CERN Yellow Rep. Monogr. 7 (2019) 867 [arXiv:1812.07638] [INSPIRE].

- [124] P. Bandyopadhyay and R. Mandal, Revisiting scalar leptoquark at the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 491 [arXiv:1801.04253] [INSPIRE].
- [125] G. Hiller, D. Loose and I. Nišandžić, Flavorful leptoquarks at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 075004 [arXiv:1801.09399] [INSPIRE].
- [126] T. Faber et al., Collider phenomenology of a unified leptoquark model, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095024 [arXiv:1812.07592] [INSPIRE].
- [127] M. Schmaltz and Y.-M. Zhong, The leptoquark Hunter's guide: large coupling, JHEP 01 (2019) 132 [arXiv:1810.10017] [INSPIRE].
- [128] K. Chandak, T. Mandal and S. Mitra, Hunting for scalar leptoquarks with boosted tops and light leptons, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 075019 [arXiv:1907.11194] [INSPIRE].
- [129] B.C. Allanach, T. Corbett and M. Madigan, Sensitivity of Future Hadron Colliders to Leptoquark Pair Production in the Di-Muon Di-Jets Channel, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 170 [arXiv:1911.04455] [INSPIRE].
- [130] L. Buonocore, U. Haisch, P. Nason, F. Tramontano and G. Zanderighi, Lepton-Quark Collisions at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 231804 [arXiv:2005.06475] [INSPIRE].
- [131] C. Borschensky, B. Fuks, A. Kulesza and D. Schwartländer, Scalar leptoquark pair production at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 115017 [arXiv:2002.08971]
 [INSPIRE].
- [132] E. Keith and E. Ma, S, T, and leptoquarks at HERA, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 (1997) 4318
 [hep-ph/9707214] [INSPIRE].
- [133] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, A. Greljo, J.F. Kamenik and N. Košnik, *Physics of leptoquarks in precision experiments and at particle colliders*, *Phys. Rept.* 641 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1603.04993] [INSPIRE].
- [134] A. Bhaskar, D. Das, B. De and S. Mitra, Enhancing scalar productions with leptoquarks at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 035002 [arXiv:2002.12571] [INSPIRE].
- [135] J. Zhang, C.-X. Yue, C.-H. Li and S. Yang, Constraints on scalar and vector leptoquarks from the LHC Higgs data, arXiv:1905.04074 [INSPIRE].
- [136] V. Gherardi, D. Marzocca and E. Venturini, Matching scalar leptoquarks to the SMEFT at one loop, JHEP 07 (2020) 225 [Erratum ibid. 01 (2021) 006] [arXiv:2003.12525] [INSPIRE].
- [137] A. Crivellin, D. Müller and F. Saturnino, Leptoquarks in oblique corrections and Higgs signal strength: status and prospects, JHEP 11 (2020) 094 [arXiv:2006.10758] [INSPIRE].
- [138] K. Cheung, W.-Y. Keung and P.-Y. Tseng, Leptoquark induced rare decay amplitudes $h \to \tau^{\mp} \mu^{\pm}$ and $\tau \to \mu \gamma$, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 015010 [arXiv:1508.01897] [INSPIRE].
- [139] S. Baek and K. Nishiwaki, Leptoquark explanation of $h \to \mu \tau$ and muon (g-2), Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 015002 [arXiv:1509.07410] [INSPIRE].
- [140] P. Arnan, D. Becirevic, F. Mescia and O. Sumensari, *Probing low energy scalar leptoquarks* by the leptonic W and Z couplings, JHEP 02 (2019) 109 [arXiv:1901.06315] [INSPIRE].
- [141] J. Blumlein and R. Ruckl, Production of scalar and vector leptoquarks in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Phys. Lett. B 304 (1993) 337 [INSPIRE].
- [142] M. Hirsch, H.V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus and S.G. Kovalenko, New low-energy leptoquark interactions, Phys. Lett. B 378 (1996) 17 [hep-ph/9602305] [INSPIRE].

- [143] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer and N. Košnik, Leptoquark mechanism of neutrino masses within the grand unification framework, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 417 [arXiv:1701.08322] [INSPIRE].
- [144] A. Crivellin and J. Girrbach, Constraining the MSSM sfermion mass matrices with light fermion masses, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 076001 [arXiv:1002.0227] [INSPIRE].
- [145] M.E. Peskin and T. Takeuchi, Estimation of oblique electroweak corrections, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 381 [INSPIRE].
- [146] G. Altarelli and R. Barbieri, Vacuum polarization effects of new physics on electroweak processes, Phys. Lett. B 253 (1991) 161 [INSPIRE].
- [147] A. Djouadi and M. Spira, Measuring static quark properties at LEP, Phys. Lett. B 228 (1989) 443 [INSPIRE].
- [148] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3, OPAL and SLD collaborations, LEP Electroweak Working Group, SLD Electroweak Group, SLD Heavy Flavour Group, *Precision electroweak* measurements on the Z resonance, *Phys. Rept.* 427 (2006) 257 [hep-ex/0509008] [INSPIRE].
- [149] A. Pich, Precision Tau Physics, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 75 (2014) 41 [arXiv:1310.7922]
 [INSPIRE].
- [150] FCC collaboration, FCC Physics Opportunities: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 1, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 474 [INSPIRE].
- [151] CMS collaboration, Search for leptoquarks coupled to third-generation quarks in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121** (2018) 241802 [arXiv:1809.05558] [INSPIRE].
- [152] ATLAS collaboration, Searches for scalar leptoquarks and differential cross-section measurements in dilepton-dijet events in proton-proton collisions at a centre-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS experiment, Eur. Phys. J. C **79** (2019) 733 [arXiv:1902.00377] [INSPIRE].
- [153] ATLAS collaboration, Searches for third-generation scalar leptoquarks in $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV } pp$ collisions with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 06 (2019) 144 [arXiv:1902.08103] [INSPIRE].
- [154] T. Aoyama, M. Hayakawa, T. Kinoshita and M. Nio, Complete Tenth-Order QED Contribution to the Muon g - 2, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 111808 [arXiv:1205.5370]
 [INSPIRE].
- [155] T. Aoyama, T. Kinoshita and M. Nio, Theory of the Anomalous Magnetic Moment of the Electron, Atoms 7 (2019) 28 [INSPIRE].
- [156] A. Czarnecki, W.J. Marciano and A. Vainshtein, Refinements in electroweak contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 073006 [Erratum ibid. 73 (2006) 119901] [hep-ph/0212229] [INSPIRE].
- [157] C. Gnendiger, D. Stöckinger and H. Stöckinger-Kim, The electroweak contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ after the Higgs boson mass measurement, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 053005 [arXiv:1306.5546] [INSPIRE].
- [158] M. Davier, A. Hoecker, B. Malaescu and Z. Zhang, Reevaluation of the hadronic vacuum polarisation contributions to the Standard Model predictions of the muon g - 2 and α(m²_Z) using newest hadronic cross-section data, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 827 [arXiv:1706.09436] [INSPIRE].
- [159] A. Keshavarzi, D. Nomura and T. Teubner, Muon g-2 and $\alpha(M_Z^2)$: a new data-based analysis, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 114025 [arXiv:1802.02995] [INSPIRE].

- [160] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter and P. Stoffer, Two-pion contribution to hadronic vacuum polarization, JHEP 02 (2019) 006 [arXiv:1810.00007] [INSPIRE].
- [161] M. Hoferichter, B.-L. Hoid and B. Kubis, Three-pion contribution to hadronic vacuum polarization, JHEP 08 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1907.01556] [INSPIRE].
- [162] M. Davier, A. Hoecker, B. Malaescu and Z. Zhang, A new evaluation of the hadronic vacuum polarisation contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment and to α(m²_Z), Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 241 [Erratum ibid. 80 (2020) 410] [arXiv:1908.00921] [INSPIRE].
- [163] A. Keshavarzi, D. Nomura and T. Teubner, g 2 of charged leptons, $\alpha(M_Z^2)$, and the hyperfine splitting of muonium, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 014029 [arXiv:1911.00367] [INSPIRE].
- [164] A. Kurz, T. Liu, P. Marquard and M. Steinhauser, Hadronic contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment to next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Lett. B 734 (2014) 144 [arXiv:1403.6400] [INSPIRE].
- [165] K. Melnikov and A. Vainshtein, Hadronic light-by-light scattering contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment revisited, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 113006 [hep-ph/0312226]
 [INSPIRE].
- [166] P. Masjuan and P. Sanchez-Puertas, *Pseudoscalar-pole contribution to the* $(g_{\mu} 2)$: *a rational approach*, *Phys. Rev. D* **95** (2017) 054026 [arXiv:1701.05829] [INSPIRE].
- [167] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter, M. Procura and P. Stoffer, Dispersion relation for hadronic light-by-light scattering: two-pion contributions, JHEP 04 (2017) 161 [arXiv:1702.07347]
 [INSPIRE].
- [168] M. Hoferichter, B.-L. Hoid, B. Kubis, S. Leupold and S.P. Schneider, Dispersion relation for hadronic light-by-light scattering: pion pole, JHEP 10 (2018) 141 [arXiv:1808.04823]
 [INSPIRE].
- [169] A. Gérardin, H.B. Meyer and A. Nyffeler, Lattice calculation of the pion transition form factor with $N_f = 2 + 1$ Wilson quarks, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 034520 [arXiv:1903.09471] [INSPIRE].
- [170] J. Bijnens, N. Hermansson-Truedsson and A. Rodríguez-Sánchez, Short-distance constraints for the HLbL contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Lett. B 798 (2019) 134994 [arXiv:1908.03331] [INSPIRE].
- [171] G. Colangelo, F. Hagelstein, M. Hoferichter, L. Laub and P. Stoffer, Longitudinal short-distance constraints for the hadronic light-by-light contribution to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ with large-N_c Regge models, JHEP **03** (2020) 101 [arXiv:1910.13432] [INSPIRE].
- [172] T. Blum et al., Hadronic Light-by-Light Scattering Contribution to the Muon Anomalous Magnetic Moment from Lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 132002
 [arXiv:1911.08123] [INSPIRE].
- [173] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter, A. Nyffeler, M. Passera and P. Stoffer, *Remarks on higher-order hadronic corrections to the muon g 2*, *Phys. Lett. B* **735** (2014) 90 [arXiv:1403.7512] [INSPIRE].
- [174] S. Borsányi et al., Leading-order hadronic vacuum polarization contribution to the muon magnetic momentfrom lattice QCD, arXiv:2002.12347 [INSPIRE].
- [175] M. Passera, W.J. Marciano and A. Sirlin, The Muon g-2 and the bounds on the Higgs boson mass, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 013009 [arXiv:0804.1142] [INSPIRE].

- [176] J. Haller, A. Hoecker, R. Kogler, K. Mönig, T. Peiffer and J. Stelzer, Update of the global electroweak fit and constraints on two-Higgs-doublet models, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 675 [arXiv:1803.01853] [INSPIRE].
- [177] A. Crivellin, M. Hoferichter, C.A. Manzari and M. Montull, Hadronic Vacuum Polarization: (g-2)_μ versus Global Electroweak Fits, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 091801
 [arXiv:2003.04886] [INSPIRE].
- [178] A. Keshavarzi, W.J. Marciano, M. Passera and A. Sirlin, Muon g 2 and $\Delta \alpha$ connection, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 033002 [arXiv:2006.12666] [INSPIRE].
- [179] A. Crivellin, D. Müller and F. Saturnino, Correlating $h \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ to the Anomalous Magnetic Moment of the Muon via Leptoquarks, arXiv:2008.02643 [INSPIRE].
- [180] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, A. Greljo, J.F. Kamenik, N. Košnik and I. Nišandžic, New Physics Models Facing Lepton Flavor Violating Higgs Decays at the Percent Level, JHEP 06 (2015) 108 [arXiv:1502.07784] [INSPIRE].
- [181] ATLAS collaboration, A search for the dimuon decay of the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B 812 (2021) 135980 [arXiv:2007.07830] [INSPIRE].
- [182] CMS collaboration, Measurement of Higgs boson decay to a pair of muons in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$, Tech. Rep. CMS-PAS-HIG-19-006 (2020).
- [183] FCC collaboration, FCC-hh: The Hadron Collider: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 3, Eur. Phys. J. ST 228 (2019) 755 [INSPIRE].
- [184] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of Particle Physics, PTEP 2020 (2020) 083C01 [INSPIRE].
- [185] FCC collaboration, FCC-ee: The Lepton Collider: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 2, Eur. Phys. J. ST 228 (2019) 261 [INSPIRE].
- [186] H. Baer et al., eds., The International Linear Collider Technical Design Report Volume 2: Physics, arXiv:1306.6352 [INSPIRE].
- [187] F. An et al., Precision Higgs physics at the CEPC, Chin. Phys. C 43 (2019) 043002 [arXiv:1810.09037] [INSPIRE].
- [188] M. Aicheler et al., eds., A Multi-TeV Linear Collider Based on CLIC Technology: CLIC Conceptual Design Report, CERN-2012-007 [INSPIRE].
- [189] OPAL collaboration, Precise determination of the Z resonance parameters at LEP:
 'Zedometry', Eur. Phys. J. C 19 (2001) 587 [hep-ex/0012018] [INSPIRE].
- [190] ATLAS collaboration, Search for the lepton flavor violating decay $Z \rightarrow e\mu$ in pp collisions at \sqrt{s} TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D **90** (2014) 072010 [arXiv:1408.5774] [INSPIRE].
- [191] MEG collaboration, Search for the lepton flavour violating decay $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+\gamma$ with the full dataset of the MEG experiment, Eur. Phys. J. C **76** (2016) 434 [arXiv:1605.05081] [INSPIRE].
- [192] SINDRUM collaboration, Search for the Decay $\mu^{\pm} \to e^{\pm}e^{\pm}e^{\mp}$, Nucl. Phys. B **299** (1988) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [193] DELPHI collaboration, Search for lepton flavor number violating Z0 decays, Z. Phys. C 73 (1997) 243 [INSPIRE].
- [194] BABAR collaboration, Searches for Lepton Flavor Violation in the Decays $\tau^{\pm} \to e^{\pm}\gamma$ and $\tau^{\pm} \to \mu^{\pm}\gamma$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104** (2010) 021802 [arXiv:0908.2381] [INSPIRE].

- [195] K. Hayasaka et al., Search for Lepton Flavor Violating τ Decays into Three Leptons with 719 Million Produced $\tau^+\tau^-$ Pairs, Phys. Lett. B 687 (2010) 139 [arXiv:1001.3221] [INSPIRE].
- [196] OPAL collaboration, A Search for lepton flavor violating Z^0 decays, Z. Phys. C 67 (1995) 555 [INSPIRE].
- [197] MEG II collaboration, The design of the MEG II experiment, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 380 [arXiv:1801.04688] [INSPIRE].
- [198] MU3E collaboration, The Mu3e Experiment, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 248-250 (2014) 35
 [INSPIRE].
- [199] BELLE-II collaboration, The Belle II Physics Book, PTEP 2019 (2019) 123C01 [Erratum ibid. 2020 (2020) 029201] [arXiv:1808.10567] [INSPIRE].